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ONE BANK IS INVESTING
IN MALDIVES
265,000 CUSTOMERS
37 BRANCHES IN 20 ATOLLS
102 ATMS IN 20 ATOLLS
277 CASH AGENTS IN 165 ISLANDS
5,400 POS MERCHANTS
42 SELF SERVICE BANKING CENTRES
2,000 DHONI BANKING TRIPS
MVR 12 BILLION LOANS TO INDIVIDUALS & BUSINESS
MVR 15 BILLION CUSTOMER DEPOSITS
MVR 1 BILLION GOVERNMENT LOAN SCHEMES
950 JOBS WITH 1/3 IN ATOLLS
99% STAFF ARE MALDIVIANS

THAT BANK IS
BANK OF MALDIVES

Bank of Maldives (BML) is the leading financial institution in
Maldives. We are a full-service bank engaging across the
complete spectrum of personal, business and corporate
financial services.
We are privileged to touch the lives of almost every citizen
and business in Maldives through our extensive network of
branches, agents, relationship managers and online banking
facilities. This privilege brings with it great responsibility which
we take extremely seriously.
We understand that we play a pivotal role as an engine of
growth and a partner for success for thousands of individuals,
families and businesses. Our aim is to actively participate in
community development and to create long-term value for our
shareholders.
Our business is built on a clear and compelling strategy
focused on 3 strategic pillars of Customer Service, Support for
Business and Financial Inclusion. Our strategic foundations are
People Excellence and Robust Risk Management.
We are firmly focused on being a professionally managed,
customer-oriented organization which follows international
best practices.
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OUR BUSINESS STRENGTHS
SOLID FINANCIAL PLATFORM
Deposit base MVR 15 billion
Assets MVR 23 billion
Strong capital position well above regulatory requirement

STRONG CUSTOMER BASE
265,000 customers
Leading market share in Retail, Corporate and SME segments
Market leader in self-service banking with largest number of online and ATM users

LEADERSHIP IN INNOVATION
First to launch POS services in Maldives
First to launch Internet and Mobile Banking
First to launch cash and cheque deposit machines

LEADERSHIP IN SERVICE DELIVERY
Largest network of branches, Agents, ATMs and POS terminals in Maldives
Exclusive acquirer and issuer of American Express cards in Maldives
Principal member in the Maldives for Visa and MasterCard

EXPERIENCED AND DEDICATED TEAM
Largest employer in the banking sector
99% of our employees are locals with almost one third employed in the atolls
Strong executive leadership team with experience across many countries and
banking markets
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VISION
To be the best managed company in the Maldives, with the highest standards of corporate
governance and customer satisfaction as well as the best shareholder returns.

VALUES
INTEGRITY
BML staff adhere strictly to a high standard of conduct, ethics and honesty in all that we do.
We are bankers.

CUSTOMER FIRST
We ensure our customers are our key focus. We always strive to exceed their expectations.

ACCESSIBILITY
We can be easily accessed by our customers through whatever means they choose.

TEAMWORK
We work together and collaborate for the good of our customers. Working for BML and serving our
customers is a privilege. But it is also fun.

STRATEGIC PILLARS
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CHAIRPERSON’S STATEMENT
ANOTHER SUCCESSFUL YEAR
Dear Shareholders,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I take great
pleasure in presenting to you the Annual Report
of Bank of Maldives for the financial year ending
31st December 2018.
It is immensely satisfying to report that 2018
represented yet another year where solid
business growth accompanied by prudent loan
book management resulted in a strong financial
outturn. Profit before Tax at MVR 1.6 billion, was
up 13% on 2017, a particularly positive result as
it was achieved notwithstanding higher funding
costs and unlike in the prior year, performance
did not benefit from any one-off gains. Profit
after Tax has now surpassed the MVR 1 billion
threshold for the past three consecutive years.
Robust profitability and capital strength are of
course essential for the sustainability of any
bank in today’s world but for Bank of Maldives
in particular, these characteristics provide the
necessary platform for our nationwide community
investment program. In 2018, we continued to

demonstrate our commitment to supporting
individuals, businesses and communities, with a
spend of MVR 300 million under our Aharenge
Bank (“My Bank”) initiative. We committed a
similar amount in 2017.
Back in 2014, we embarked on an ambitious five
year plan which entailed significant changes to
our structures, business lines, technology and
community investment. I am pleased to report
that this plan has now been fully delivered
and that during the year, the Board devoted
considerable time to the formulation of a new
plan that is designed to safely navigate the Bank
through the next five years. Based on all available
performance and risk management data, it is our
conclusion that the Bank benchmarks powerfully
against its peers in the region today and it is our
intention to relentlessly focus on retaining the
highest international standards.
During 2018, Bank of Maldives had the significant
honour of hosting the annual conference of the
Asian Bankers Association – the first time this
prestigious event has ever been held in the

Profit before Tax at MVR 1.6 billion, was up 13% on 2017, a particularly positive
result as it was achieved notwithstanding higher funding costs and unlike in the
prior year, performance did not benefit from any one-off gains.
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Robust profitability and capital strength are of course essential for the sustainability of
any bank in today’s world but for Bank of Maldives in particular, these characteristics
provide the necessary platform for our nationwide community investment program.
In 2018, we continued to demonstrate our commitment to supporting individuals,
businesses and communities with a spend of MVR 300 million under our Aharenge
Bank (“My Bank”) initiative. We committed a similar amount in 2017.

Maldives. Under the theme “Banking in Asia
– The Next Frontier”, we welcomed renowned
international speakers from the banking and
financial services industry who shared their
insights into the technological and other
advancements that are shaping the industry
today. I would like to thank and congratulate
all those who were involved in running this
conference which proved an enormous success
for both the Bank and the country.
The end of the year saw our Chief Executive and
Managing Director, Andrew Healy, complete
his planned move back to Europe after five
successful years in charge. I would like to thank
Andrew and the entire executive management
team for their strong leadership, drive and
determination in taking the Bank forward during
the year. In addition, I would like to express my
gratitude to all our staff for your hard work,
enthusiasm and commitment.
I wish to extend particular thanks to our
customers for your continued support and
to our shareholders for your confidence and
loyalty. I am pleased that the Bank’s excellent
financial performance has positioned the

Board to propose a record dividend for 2018.
Finally, I would like to thank my fellow Board
members for your valuable contribution
and support in steering the Bank’s strategic
direction, sound focus and strong governance
throughout the year.
Against the above backdrop, I am pleased to
state with confidence that Bank of Maldives
is well positioned for the future. Over the year
ahead, we will work hard to sustain the positive
trajectory of our business through exemplary
customer focus, innovative products and
services and the highest international standards
of risk management and governance.

Saeeda Umar
Chairperson

Based on all available performance and risk management data, it is our conclusion
that the Bank benchmarks powerfully against its peers in the region today and it is our
intention to relentlessly focus on retaining the highest international standards.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
A SUCCESSFUL YEAR TO BE PROUD OF
It is with pride that I look back on 2018 as another
strong and successful year for our Bank. Financial
performance has never been better nor loan book
standards higher, factors that are of course interlinked in terms of the Bank’s robust profitability and
capital position at year end. As our Chairperson has
noted, this fundamentally positive platform enabled
further significant community investment throughout
the year and positions us to continue such investment
moving forward.

ratio of non-performing to total loans finished the
year at 3.5% (2017: 4.1%), contributing to our strong
capital position which remained well in excess of
regulatory requirements.
Community Investment
The continuation of our ‘Aharenge Bank’ community
program during the year saw the Bank invest a further
MVR 300 million into community projects and network
expansion, to the benefit of communities right across
the nation. The year saw a remarkable 110 CSR
projects which assisted charitable, educational,
sports and environmental causes. We opened 4 new
branches and 5 new Self Service Banking Centres
in the atolls as well as piloted cash deposit and loan
repayment services through agents and expanded our
nationwide network to 277 agents.

Strong Financial Performance
While we encountered higher funding costs and lower
margins as anticipated, solid business volumes and
continued improvement in loan book quality helped
to compensate. This resulted in Profit Before Tax
coming in at MVR 1.6 billion, which is an increase of
13% compared to the prior year. Underlying Profit
(excluding in particular one-off recoveries, loss of fee Digital Transformation
income and reversal of provision under IFRS9) was Like many other countries, customer behaviours and
up 30% which represents an excellent outcome. The preferences in terms of their banking continue to

Financial performance has never been stronger nor loan book standards higher, factors that are of
course inter-linked in terms of the Bank’s robust profitability and capital position at year end. As our
Chairperson has noted, this fundamentally positive platform enabled further significant community
investment throughout the year and positions us to continue such investment moving forward.
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2018 was indeed a year to be proud of. We have reached a standard of performance that we
are determined to sustain and build upon. To do so, the year ahead will see further investment
for the benefit of the individuals, businesses and communities of the Maldives.

evolve in the Maldives, with ever-increasing demand
for new technology and online services. In 2018, we
continued to invest in our technology-based offerings
and innovations such as online applications for key
services have delivered greater convenience for
customers, while simultaneously providing improved
efficiency for the Bank. It is no longer necessary for
customers to visit branches for many services, a
development that has helped position our branch
network to focus to a greater extent on the provision
of customer-focused advisory activities.
During the year, we introduced a technologicallyadvanced international money transfer service through
the BML MobilePay app. This offering has been very
positively received as it dramatically transforms the
way individuals can send money overseas. We are
committed to continuing to innovate and invest in
further technology enhancements for the benefit of
both personal and business customers.
BML Islamic
Our Islamic banking arm, BML Islamic, continued its
positive growth path in 2018. This represents a vital
part of our business going forward as we deliver
on our commitment to offer Shari’ah compliant
alternatives to those with a preference for this form
of banking. Several new products were introduced
during the year and we will continue to invest
throughout the year ahead.

Appreciation
I would like to extend my thanks and appreciation to
all our customers for your ongoing confidence in the
Bank. I assure you we do not take your business for
granted and that throughout the year ahead, we will
continue to work tirelessly to meet your expectations
in terms of service standards, product offerings and
indeed everything we do.
To our extremely dedicated staff, thank you most
sincerely for your hard work throughout the year - you
have much to be proud of. It is no coincidence that
our progressive human resources policies have once
again earned us the coveted “Asia’s Best Employer
Brand” award from the World HRD Congress and we
are immensely proud to be one of the most attractive
places to work in the region.
The Year Ahead
2018 was indeed a year to be proud of. We have
reached a standard of performance that we are
determined to sustain and build upon. To do so,
the year ahead will see further investment for the
benefit of the individuals, businesses and
communities of the Maldives.

Aishath Noordeen
Deputy CEO (In-charge of the Bank)

In 2018, we continued to invest in our technology-based offerings and innovations such as
online applications for key services have delivered greater convenience for customers, while
simultaneously providing improved efficiency for the Bank.
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03
2018 REVIEW
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
The Bank achieved a Net Profit Before Tax of MVR 1.6 billion, up 13% on 2017. When one-off
factors are taken into account, Underlying Profit increased by 30%. This is a particularly positive
result as it was achieved notwithstanding higher funding costs and unlike in the prior year,
performance did not benefit from any one-off gains. Performance benefited from solid growth
across most core business sectors and income sources, while further improvements in loan book
quality significantly strengthened the bottom line. The Bank also adopted the new Accounting
Standard IFRS 9 Financial Instruments during the year. The Bank is strongly capitalized with a
Capital Adequacy Ratio of 40%, well above regulatory requirements.

MVR ‘000

2018

2017

+/-

Net Profit Before Tax

1,601,899

1,416,431

+13%

Underlying Profit Before Tax¹

1,605,647

1,235,792

+30%

Net Profit After Tax

1,098,760

1,038,181

+6%

Gross NPA Ratio

3.5%

4.1%

Provision Cover

100%

100%

40%

34%

Net Loans and Advances

12,198,904

12,221,060

-0.2%

Customer Deposits

15,257,418

15,186,717

+0.5%

Total Assets

22,973,103

22,364,967

+3%

Total Liabilities

17,125,926

16,816,849

+2%

5,847,177
24²

5,548,118

+5%

22

+9%

Capital Adequacy Ratio

Shareholders’ Funds
Dividend Per Share (MVR)
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¹ Adjusted for one-off recoveries in 2017 and loss of a fee income and provision reversal under IFRS 9 in 2018.
² Proposed. Subject to shareholders approval.

Income

Expenses

Total Income reached MVR 2.5 billion, an
increase of 10% with most lines showing
satisfactory growth. Net Interest Income growth
of 12% was achieved despite significant
increase in funding costs. Non-Interest Income
slightly declined during the year due to loss of
a specific fee income and lower construction
related fee income. At MVR 606 million, NonInterest Income is now contributing to almost a
quarter of Bank’s total income.

Operating costs increased by 5% versus 2017
due to strong growth in business volumes
and the impact of our extensive investment
program which saw high levels of spending in
the strategically important areas of technology
infrastructure, financial inclusion and customer
service. Nevertheless, the increase decelerated
during the year and the Bank’s cost/income ratio
was maintained at 24%.

Loan Book Quality
Total non-performing loans less interest in suspense at the end of 2018 stood at MVR 618 million, a
drop of MVR 248 million or 29% with no significant new non-performing loans during the year. The
ratio of non-performing loans to total loans further reduced from 4.1% to 3.5%, while the provision
cover ratio was maintained at 100%.

BALANCE SHEET
Assets and Liabilities

Shareholders’ Funds

Total Assets finished the year at MVR 23 billion,
up 3% on the previous year. The gross loan
book grew by MVR 607 million or 5%. Total
Liabilities at MVR 17.1 billion increased by 2%
versus 2017. Deposits continued to grow with an
underlying deposit growth of 5%. Liquidity levels
remained satisfactory.

Total Shareholders’ Funds stood at MVR 5.8
billion at year end, driven by retained earnings.
The Capital Adequacy Ratio was maintained well
above the minimum regulatory requirement of
12% and finished the year at 40% (2017: 34%).

Dividend Payment
The issued and paid up share capital at end 2018 amounted to 5,381,920 shares of MVR 50 par
value. On the back of the Bank’s solid financial position, the Board has recommended a record final
dividend of MVR 129,166,080 for 2018 which equates to MVR 24 per share.
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NET PROFIT BEFORE TAX
MVR ‘000

UNDERLYING PROFIT BEFORE TAX

CUSTOMER LOANS (GROSS)
MVR ‘000

MVR ‘000

1,400,000

1,400,000

14,000,000

1,100,000

1,100,000

10,000,000

800,000

800,000

6,000,000

500,000

500,000

4,000,000

200,000

200,000

2,000,000

2017

2018

CUSTOMER DEPOSITS

2017

2018

2017

SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS

DIVIDEND PAYOUT

MVR ‘000

MVR ‘000

MVR ‘000

16,000,000

6,500,000

140,000

14,000,000

4,500,000

120,000

12,000,000

2,500,000

100,000

10,000,000

1,500,000

80,000

8,000,000

500,000

60,000

2017

2018

2017

2018

2018

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018*

*PROPOSED
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EXECUTING OUR
STRATEGIC PLAN
The Bank’s Strategic Plan 2014 – 2018 was fully delivered in 2018 and a new plan focusing on the next
5 years was developed by the Board of Directors during the year. The plan continues to focus on the
three key pillars of Financial Inclusion, Customer Service and Support for Business, underpinned by
our strategic foundations of robust Risk Management and People Excellence.

FINANCIAL INCLUSION
Bank of Maldives' commitment to provide financial inclusion across the country and provide
comprehensive and reliable banking services remains unwavering. Through our focus on financial
inclusion we work to ensure communities across the country have access to banking facilities.
Today we are present in every inhabited island through a branch, outlet, self-service banking ATM or
an agent service. During the year we opened 4 new branch premises and further expanded our selfservice banking network with introduction of self-service banking ATMs in five islands. Today 9 out of
10 transactions are done through online channels. We saw over 40 million transactions through our
online channels last year.

Bank of Maldives' commitment to provide financial inclusion across the country and
provide comprehensive and reliable banking services remains unwavering. Through
our focus on financial inclusion we work to ensure communities across the country
have access to banking facilities.

Our Agent network was expanded and to date we have 277 agents with at least one in every inhabited
island providing cash withdrawal service. Cash deposit services through these agents were piloted
and this service will be further expanded during 2019. We will continue to invest in financial inclusion
to bring banking to the people through modern state-of-the-art solutions.
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CUSTOMER SERVICE
Enhancing our customer experience and taking our service standards to the next level continues to be
one of our key strategic priorities. We have put in a lot of good work in 2018 to make the lives of our
customers easier through introduction of convenient banking solutions and services.
One of the most important strategies in improving our service is to provide convenience to our
customers through our self-service banking channels where the need to visit the physical branches
for transactions and services are minimized. During 2018 we expanded our self-service ATM network
with additional ATMs in both atolls and in Male’.
An important enhancement to our Internet Banking portal was brought in 2018 where personal
banking customers are now able to apply for services such as account opening, loans or cards at
their convenience online without having to visit a branch or wait in a queue. Additionally, a hassle-free
international money transfer platform was introduced through BML MobilePay that is cost-effective
and fast.

24
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SUPPORT FOR BUSINESS
Bank of Maldives continues to be the leading bank for businesses of all sizes across the country.
From Micro businesses, Small and Medium Enterprises to larger corporates, BML has opened up
opportunities for all businesses alike. This is reflected in our growing numbers of SMEs and corporates
and in our increased lending to these sectors.
A well-established Corporate Banking Department manages large corporates with a strong team
that understands their financial needs. We have always had a strong relationship with small local
businesses in the country and in 2018, we took a step further to set up a dedicated SME Banking
Department. The team works closely with the growing SME sector to provide advisory services,
identify financial requirements and facilitate solutions.

A well-established Corporate Banking Department manages large corporates with
a strong team that understands their financial needs. We have always had a strong
relationship with small local businesses in the country and in 2018, we took a step
further to set up a dedicated SME Banking Department.

During 2018 we continued our investment in people, products and infrastructure to support businesses
and provide customized services across all business sectors. We have significantly increased the
number of dedicated Relationship Managers to advice and support the needs of businesses.
While the first dedicated Business Centre has already been opened in Addu, the year ahead will see
3 additional Business Centres opening in Male’, Hulhumale’ and Kulhudhuffushi.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
Robust Risk Management represents a key strategic foundation for Bank of Maldives and responsibility for
risk management resides at all levels in our Bank. The Bank has in place a risk management framework
which is designed to provide a structured approach to managing risks. This framework identifies, assesses,
manages and mitigates risks that could impair the delivery of the Bank’s strategic and business objectives.
Significant steps were taken to further strengthen our risk management framework in 2018, driven with
a risk based approach and through enhancement to our policies, procedures, process and people.
Furthermore, we progressed, with external risk management expertise, our International Risk Standards
Project which targets the very best international practices and standards.
There is in place a comprehensive risk governance structure, with an active and engaged Board of Directors
supported by an experienced senior management team. The Board is ultimately responsible for the risk
management framework and defines, through the Risk Appetite Statement, the acceptable levels and
types of risk exposures that it considers likely to arise in the delivery of the Bank's strategic objectives. The
Board’s risk governance is supported through a series of sub-committees and by management working
under delegated mandates.
The Bank is organized according to the principles of three lines of defense which separate our control
functions (Risk Management, Compliance and Internal Audit) from our risk-taking functions and risk
owners. The Risk team engages closely with business units to ensure risks are managed effectively and
to embed a strong risk culture in the organization. The Compliance Unit assists management in ensuring
employees comply with internal procedures and processes, applicable laws and regulations as well as
ethical standards. Additionally, the Internal Audit Unit tests and validates the adequacy and effectiveness
of internal controls and reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board.

There is in place a comprehensive risk governance structure, with an active and engaged
Board of Directors supported by an experienced senior management team. The Board is
ultimately responsible for the risk management framework and defines, through the Risk
Appetite Statement, the acceptable levels and types of risk exposures that it considers likely to
arise in the delivery of the Bank's strategic objectives.
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PEOPLE EXCELLENCE
Our Human Resources strategy focuses on developing competent, motivated, customer-oriented
employees to deliver the Bank’s strategy. We are committed to attracting and retaining employees who
are proud to work for Bank of Maldives and who will act as good ambassadors for the organization.
In 2018, our progressive human resource policies once again earned the Bank the prestigious “Asia’s
Best Employer Brand” award from the World HRD Congress and the Employer Branding Institute. The
Bank was recognized for its commitment to people excellence and forward looking human resource
policies in the areas of recruiting, rewarding, developing and retaining talent.
During the year, the Bank launched an Internship Program for students and graduates of local higher
education institutions. This initiative allows top students and graduates to gain valuable on the job
experience and a pathway to permanent employment with the Bank. We also continued the “BML
Prospect” program in partnership with higher education institutions to prepare students for the job
market when they graduate.

In 2018, our progressive human resource policies once again earned the Bank the
prestigious “Asia’s Best Employer Brand” award from the World HRD Congress and the
Employer Branding Institute. The Bank was recognized for its commitment to people
excellence and forward looking human resource policies in the areas of recruiting, reward,
developing and retaining talent.
Throughout
2018, we implemented a number of training and other initiatives to
improve staff engagement and to embed a culture of learning across the organization.
Through our employee engagement survey, staff have the opportunity to provide confidential
feedback on a range of important matters.
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The Bank’s recreational club for staff, ‘United BML’, organized various activities during the year to
improve employee engagement. Bank teams participated in several inter-office sports tournaments,
with a number of prestigious trophies proudly secured.
We held our annual Staff Awards event where our top performing employees were recognized
for their hard work and contribution to the Bank. We also honoured our long-serving, loyal and
dedicated staff at our annual Long Service Awards event where they were presented with special
mementos of recognition.
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BML ISLAMIC
Our Islamic banking arm, BML Islamic, continued to grow strongly during 2018 well. Our deposit base
and lending portfolio increased significantly. We continued to introduce Shari’ah compliant alternatives
to our conventional products with the introduction of our very first consumer financing product and a
competitive alternative for business customers with BML Islamic Personal Financing and BML Islamic
General Financing, respectively. We plan to further strengthen our product portfolio throughout 2019.

We continued to introduce Shari’ah compliant alternatives to our conventional products
with the introduction of our very first consumer financing product and a competitive
alternative for business customers with BML Islamic Personal Financing and BML
Islamic General Financing, respectively. We plan to further strengthen our product
portfolio throughout 2019.

BML Islamic services are available through the Bank’s existing network of branches, ATMs and POS
terminals and are accessible via our Internet Banking and Mobile Banking platforms. The three key
attributes of our offerings are:
Products and services are fully Shari’ah compliant.
There is complete segregation of funds with separate ledgers to book Islamic products and funds.
All services conform to international best practice standards.
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INVESTMENT IN TECHNOLOGY
Our commitment to investment in technology remains steadfast and continues to play an important part
in the Bank’s strategic development. Over the past few years we have been paving the path for digital
banking. We have introduced online payment apps that integrate with bank accounts, allowing seamless
online shopping, transfers, mobile-to-mobile payment and keeping track of card and account activities.
By allowing access 24/7, we continue to change the culture of banking from face to face banking to nonface to face convenient banking methods. We must and will continue to invest in technology to embrace
modern and technologically advanced banking solutions.
2018 saw important investments in a wide range of areas, including further addition of self-service banking
ATMs specifically in atolls. Through Self-Service Banking ATMS, Agents, mobile and internet banking
services, online transactions continue to account for 9 out of every 10 transactions.

2018 saw important investments in a wide range of areas, including further addition of
self-service banking ATMs specifically in atolls. Through Self-Service Banking ATMS,
Agents, mobile and internet banking services, online transactions continue to account
for 9 out of every 10 transactions.

Recent technology-based investments also include the introduction of a convenient platform of online
money transfer through our mobile pay application. In addition, online applications were introduced
enabling customers to submit applications through internet banking at their convenience.
With the growing ATM network and popularity of self-service banking, to furthur secure ATM transactions,
all our ATMs were made EMV compliant during the year. Mindful of the risks associated with banking
technology in the modern world, we continue to actively test the resilience of all our systems to safeguard
from increasing security threats.
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INVESTMENT IN THE COMMUNITY
We continue to uphold our responsibility to invest in supporting our local communities. Once again,
as part of our ‘Aharenge Bank’ program, we invested over MVR 300 million in network expansion and
community initiatives supporting charitable, educational, sports and environmental causes.
During the year, we implemented over 100 CSR initiatives, our highest spend ever on CSR, benefiting
communities across the country. We supported special needs schools with educational learning
aids, invested in the upgrading of computer labs, supported mobility-impaired residents through the
provision of motorized wheelchairs and we also supported young adults in developing their sports
skills to lead a more active lifestyle.

During the year, we implemented over 100 CSR initiatives, our highest spend ever on
CSR, benefiting communities across the country. We supported special needs schools
with educational learning aids, invested in the upgrading of computer labs, supported
mobility-impaired residents through the provision of motorized wheelchairs and we also
supported young adults in developing their sports skills to lead a more active lifestyle.

Our partnerships with charitable organizations further strengthened in 2018 as we supported initiatives
to raise awareness for worthy causes. Earlier in 2018, we held the third annual BML Wow Kidz Run in
association with our partner, TfG. As the largest kids run in the country, this was an initiative to promote
the importance of a healthy lifestyle for children while raising funds for a good cause. Towards the
end of the year, we also supported the annual Pink Ribbon Run held nationwide together with Cancer
Society of Maldives to raise awareness for breast cancer.

34

Our staff volunteers continued to show incredible support to the community. The Staff Charity Run
took place as part of the “Aharenge Bank” activities in February 2018, and we donated MVR 90,000
for Maldives Autism Association, Maldives Association of Physical Disables and Beautiful Eyes Down
Syndrome Association. Our staff also worked on a range of volunteer initiatives such as various island
clean-ups, as well as the swimming track cleanup in Male’ together with the Swimming Association of
Maldives, Dive Desk and Dive Club.
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04
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
DIRECTORS NOMINATED BY THE GOVERNMENT
The eight directors elected at the 35th Annual General Meeting held on 13th May 2018 are as follows:

MS. SAEEDA UMAR
Chairperson
Registry No: 621, Male’

MR. ANDREW HEALY
Ex-Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director
(Non-Independent, Executive Director)

(Independent, Non-Executive Director)
Ms. Saeeda Umar has a wealth of experience in
providing consultancy service to the Government
of Maldives in the past 10 years in field of project
management, resource mobilization, trade, business
development, employment, labor and migration. In
her most recent engagement as a Policy Consultant
at the Ministry of Economic Development, she was
a member of the negotiations team that undertook
the Free Trade Agreement Negotiations with China
and Hong Kong and was the co-chair of the goods
negotiations working group. Currently she works as
a local consultant on trade facilitation for the Asian
Development Bank.
Ms. Saeeda was also an Independent Non-Executive
Director at Dhivehi Insurance Pvt. Ltd. from 30th May
2016 to 15th March 2018.

Mr. Andrew Healy was the Chief Executive Officer and
Managing Director of the Bank until 30th November
2018. A career banker, Mr. Healy has over 25 years of
international financial services experience, including
ten years at CEO and Board level.
Mr. Healy has held a number of respected industry
leadership positions, including Chairman of the
Northern Ireland Banking Association and President
of the Institute of Banking in Ireland. He holds a first
class Master’s degree in Business from University
College Cork, Ireland and a Bachelor of Science
degree in Financial Services from University College
Dublin, Ireland. He is a Fellow of the Institute of
Banking in Ireland and a Chartered Member of the UK
Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development.
Mr. Healy holds no shares in the Bank.

Ms. Saeeda holds a Master’s degree on Trade and
Diplomacy from Monash University, Australia and
Bachelors of Commerce degree from La Trobe
University, Australia.
Ms. Saeeda has no shares in the Bank.
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MR. MOHAMED SHAREEF

MR. ABDUL HARIS

MR. MOHAMED LUVEIZ

M. Ifau, Male’
(Non-Independent, Executive Director)

G. Ekra, Male’
(Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director)

Ma. Dhilaasaage, Male’
(Independent, Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Mohamed Shareef joined the Bank
in 1995. Mr. Shareef is currently Deputy
CEO and Director of Operations.

Mr. Abdul Haris was the former
Managing Director of Island Aviation
Services Limited. Mr. Haris started his
career in aviation with Air Maldives
in 1985 where he gained hands-on
experience in accounting and financial
management. While at Air Maldives,
he was instrumental in achieving IATA
membership and acquiring the IATA
billing and settlement plan for the flag
carrier. Mr. Haris was also a member
of the technical advisory committee
to the Government on establishing an
international airline in the Maldives.

Mr. Mohamed Luveiz was the Minister
of State for Economic Relations at the
President’s Office, Male’, Maldives.
Prior to being appointed to this
position, he served as Director at the
Corporate Development Secretariat in
the President’s Office.

Prior to his current position, Mr. Shareef
served as the Bank’s Retail Banking
Director where he successfully led the
development of the Bank’s business in
this sector. He has also held the roles
of Operations Director, Chief Operating
Officer and Head of Card Centre.
Mr. Shareef holds a Master of Business
Administration (Finance) degree from
University of Manchester, United Kingdom.
Mr. Shareef has no shares in the Bank.

After joining Island Aviation as Director
of Finance and Accounts in 2000,
Mr. Haris played a key role in making
“Maldivian” a regional carrier. He held
the position of Managing Director from
2012 to December 2018.
Mr. Haris holds an Honors Degree in
Accounting and Management Systems
from Thames Valley University, United
Kingdom and was the first Maldivian
to achieve membership of the UK
Association of Accounting Technicians.
Mr. Haris has no shares in the Bank.

Mr. Luveiz began his career in 1995 and
among many senior roles, he served as
Advisor on Investments at the Ministry
of Finance and Treasury and as Director
of Economic Affairs at the Ministry of
Economic Development where he was
mandated with investment promotion
and SME development.
Mr. Luveiz holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from Victoria
University of Technology, Australia and
a Bachelor of Commerce degree from
University of South Australia, Australia.
Mr. Luveiz has no shares in the Bank.
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MS. AISHATH ARSHA

MR. RABIH MOHAMED

MS. HAWWA SAFNA

Ma. Narugismaage aage, Male’

Anbugasdhoshuge, Th. Vilufushi

H. Vaifilaage, Male'

(Independent, Non-Executive Director)

(Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director)

(Non-Independent, Non-Executive Director)

Ms. Aishath Arsha is the Business
Director of Maldives Boat Club Pvt. Ltd.
She worked at Bank of Maldives as the
Head of Risk and Re-engineering from
2011 to 2014 and before this she was
employed as a Relationship Manager
at
Australia’s
Wespac
Banking
Corporation from 2007 to 2010.

Mr. Rabih is the Assistant Chief
Executive Officer of Maldives Ports
Ltd. Prior to being appointed to this
position, he was the General Manager
of Vara Maldives Pvt. Ltd and Marketing
& Sales Executive of Crossworld
Maldives Pvt Ltd.

Ms. Hawwa Safna is the Chief Funds
Executive at the Ministry of Finance and
Treasury where she is responsible for
the enforcement of the Public Finance
Regulation. Ms. Safna has extensive
experience in financial management
having previously worked at the Capital
Market Development Authority as a
Market Development Expert in addition
to various positions at the Ministry of
Finance and Treasury.

Ms. Arsha has a Master’s degree in
International Economics and Finance
from University of Queensland,
Australia and a Bachelor of Business
(Banking and Finance) degree from
Charles Stuart University, Australia.
Ms. Arsha has no shares in the Bank.

Mr. Rabih holds a Bachelor of Arts
(Honors) in Business Administration
from the University of Abertay Dundee.
Mr. Rabih has no shares in the Bank.

Ms. Safna holds a Master of Business
Administration degree with Finance
Majors
from
INTI
International
University, Malaysia, a Master in Arts
from University of Hertfordshire, United
Kingdom and a first class Bachelor of
Commerce degree from University of
Pune, India.
Ms. Safna has no shares in the Bank.
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DIRECTORS ELECTED BY THE PUBLIC SHAREHOLDERS
The three directors elected at the 35th Annual General Meeting held on 13th May 2018 are as follows.

MR. MOHAMED ABDUL SATTAR

MR. IBRAHIM MOHAMED

MS. IBTHISHAMA AHMED SAEED

Ma. Tulip Villa, Male’

Nelum, N. Holhudhoo

M. Exeter, Male’

(Independent, Non-Executive Director)

(Independent, Non-Executive Director)

(Independent, Non-Executive Director)

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar is Managing
Director of Coco Huts Pvt. Ltd. He was
first elected to the Board of Directors
of the Bank by the public shareholders
from 08th September 2004 to 29th
June 2005. On 30th October 2005,
he was appointed to the Board by the
Government and was last re-appointed
on 13th June 2008. Since 07th August
2009, he has been elected to the Board
by the public shareholders.

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed is Executive
Director of NPH Investment Pvt.
Ltd and NPH Developments Pvt.
Ltd. He has served on the Board
both as a Government appointed
director as well as a director elected
by the shareholders.

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed is
Director of Business Development at
Tree Top Hospital. Prior to this she was
the Deputy General Manager of Addu
International Airport (AIA) Company
Pvt. Ltd.

Mr. Sattar is the current Chairperson of
the Bank’s Appointment, Nomination
and
Remuneration
Committee.
He holds a Master of Business
Administration degree from University of
Wales, United Kingdom.
Mr. Sattar holds 2,770 shares in the Bank.

A finance and tourism sector
professional, Mr. Ibrahim currently
serves on the boards of several
companies. He is the current
Chairperson of the Bank’s Audit and
Risk Management Committee.
Mr. Ibrahim holds a Higher National
Diploma in Business and Finance
(Tourism) from South Glamorgan
Institute of Higher Education (Cardiff
Metropolitan
University),
United
Kingdom and a postgraduate degree in
Tourism from University of Strathclyde,
United Kingdom.
Mr. Ibrahim holds 960 shares in
the Bank.

Ms. Ibthishama worked in Bank of
Maldives from 2003 until 2014 where
she held senior management posts
such as Director of Corporate Banking
and Associate Director, Investment
Banking. She was the Chairperson
of Maldives Tourism Development
Corporation from June 2014 to
November 2016.
Ms. Ibthishama holds a Bachelor
of Commerce degree from Keralan
University, India and a Master of
Arts in Marketing Communication
from University of Westminster,
United Kingdom.
Ms. Ibthishama
in the Bank.

holds

15

shares

Note: As stated under section 1.2 (f) of the Corporate Governance Code, directors who are considered as ‘Non-Executive’ and
‘Independent’ are those directors who have not, or whose immediate family members have not, held a key position in the Bank and
who have not, or whose immediate family members have not, had any substantial financial dealings with the Bank during the last
one (1) year.

39

05
EXECUTIVE TEAM

MS. AISHATH NOORDEEN

MR. MOHAMED SHAREEF

MR. KULDIP PALIWAL

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
& In-charge of the Bank

Deputy Chief Executive Officer
& Director of Operations

Director of Business

Ms. Aishath Noordeen joined the Bank
in 1982. She is currently Deputy CEO
and Director of Centralized Services.
She also currently holds charge of the
Bank since December 2018.

Mr. Mohamed Shareef joined the Bank
in 1995. He is currently Deputy CEO and
Director of Operations.

Mr. Kuldip Paliwal joined the Bank in
January 2016. He is currently Director
of Business with responsibility for
Retail, SME and Corporate Banking.

Ms. Aishath has a career spanning over
30 years in the banking industry and
has worked in numerous areas of the
Bank. She has served as Acting CEO
and Managing Director on two separate
occasions and was a governmentappointed director on the Bank’s Board
of Directors from 2008 until 2014.
Ms. Aishath was instrumental in
establishing the Bank’s award-winning
international banking business.
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Prior to his current position, Mr. Shareef
served as the Bank’s Retail Banking
Director where he successfully led the
development of the Bank’s business in
this sector. He has also held the roles
of Operations Director, Chief Operating
Officer and Head of Card Centre.
Mr. Shareef holds a Master of
Business Administration (Finance) degree
from
University
of
Manchester,
United Kingdom.

Mr. Kuldip is a career banker with over
20 years of experience in the field of
Consumer, Commercial and Corporate
Banking. He has worked in senior roles
in a number of banks in India such
as ICICI Bank, IDBI Bank & Citibank.
Prior to joining Bank of Maldives, he
was Head of Corporate & Investment
Banking at Exim Bank, Tanzania.
Mr. Kuldip holds a Master of Business
Economics (Finance) from D.A.
University, Indore, India, a Master of
Science (Statistics) from University
of Allahabad, India and a Bachelor of
Science (Statistics & Mathematics)
from University of Allahabad, India. He
is a Certified Associate of the Indian
Institute of Bankers.

MR. NANDANA SENEVIRATHNE

MR. HARITHIRTHAM VIJAYABALAN

MS. SAHAR WAHEED

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Internal Auditor

People & Change Director

Mr. Nandana Senevirathne joined
the Bank as Chief Financial Officer in
January 2014.

Mr. Harithirtham Vijayabalan joined
the Bank as Chief Internal Auditor
in May 2016.

Ms. Sahar Waheed joined the Bank in
2006. She became People & Change
Director in 2014.

Mr. Nandana has over 20 years of
experience in the financial services
sector in banks, leasing and insurance
companies. Prior to joining Bank of
Maldives, he was Chief Financial
Officer of AIG Insurance Limited,
Sri Lanka and worked a number
of years in the Middle East at senior
management roles. He has also
worked for KPMG Maldives.

Mr. Vijayabalan has over 30 years of
experience in auditing. Prior to joining
Bank of Maldives, he worked at Niche
Finance Services Company, Oman as
Head of Internal Audit. He has held senior
management positions in companies
such as HSBC Bank, Oman, DCB Bank,
India, ICICI OneSource Solutions Ltd,
India and Reserve Bank of India.

Ms. Sahar has 12 years of experience
in banking and prior to her appointment
as People and Change Director, she
served as Head of Strategic Planning
and Change Management and as
Deputy Manager, Credit Department.

Mr. Nandana holds a BSc. in
Accountancy
and
Financial
Management from University of Sri
Jayawardenapura, Sri Lanka. He is an
Associate Member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants, Sri Lanka.

Mr. Vijayabalan holds a Master of
Business
Administration
degree
from University of Cochin, India and
a Bachelor of Science degree from
Madras Christin College, India. He is
a Certified Internal Auditor, Certified
Internal Information System Auditor
and a Certified Associate of the Indian
Institute of Bankers.

Ms. Sahar holds a BSc. in Economics
and Economic History from the London
School of Economics and Political
Science, United Kingdom.
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MS. RASHFA JAUFAR

MR. ADLY AHMED DIDI

MS. AISHATH ZAMRA ZAHIR

Credit Director

Technology Director

Marketing Director

Ms. Rashfa Jaufar joined the
Bank in 2004. She became Credit
Director in 2014.
A credit risk management professional,
during her tenure Ms. Rashfa has
fulfilled the roles of Acting Chief Credit
Officer, Manager, Credit Department
and Head of Credit.
Ms. Rashfa holds a Master of Arts in
Accountancy – Political Economy from
the University of Aberdeen, Scotland.

MS. FATHIMATH MANIKE
Development Banking Director
Fathimath Manike joined the Bank
in 1982. She became Development
Banking Director in August 2018.
Fathimath has extensive knowledge
and experience in the banking industry,
gained through a career spanning over
30 years. She has previously served
the Bank at Assistant General Manager
level and has held responsibility for
areas such as Development Banking,
Human Resources and Operations.
She was the Islamic Banking
Director before her appointment to
the current role.
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Mr. Adly Ahmed
Bank in 1997.

Didi

joined

the

With over 20 years of experience in
the field of Information Technology,
Mr. Adly started his career in the Bank
as Manager, Information Technology.
He also served as Head of Information
Technology before joining the Bank’s
executive committee as Technology
Director in 2014.
Mr. Adly holds a Bachelor of Engineering
degree from Staffordshire University, UK.

Ms. Aishath Zamra Zahir joined
the Bank as Marketing Director
in April 2015.
Prior to joining Bank of Maldives,
Ms. Zamra worked at Ooredoo
Maldives as Head of Marketing
Communications where she was
responsible for the management and
coordination of all communications,
advertising and public relations.
Ms. Zamra holds a Master’s Degree in
Public Relations from Bournemouth
University, United Kingdom.

06
DIRECTORS’
REPORTS
BOARD COMPOSITION
Article 47 of the Articles of Association (AOA) of the Bank states
that the Board shall consist of 11 directors, from which 08 directors
are nominated by the Government and elected by the shareholders
while the remaining 03 directors are to be elected only by the General
Shareholders. Further, pursuant to Article 79 and 80 of the Bank’s AOA,
the Chairperson and the Managing Director are appointed by the Board
from among the elected directors nominated by the Government. This
composition is in line with the requirements of the Maldives Banking
Act (Law No.24/2010).
In compliance with Corporate Governance Code of Capital Market
Development Authority (CMDA), the Board of Directors represents a
mix of Executive, Non-Executive and Independent Directors so that it
is capable of providing impartial, competent and effective guidance to
the Management, while upholding an environment of good governance.
The Board of Directors encompasses a range of skills, qualifications,
talents and expertise which are required to provide sound and prudent
guidance with respect to the operations and interests of the Bank and
its shareholders.
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The year 2018 began with the following members of the Board of Directors.

1

Ms. Saeeda Umar (Chairperson)

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-Executive

2

*Mr. Andrew Healy (CEO & MD)

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Executive

3

Mr. Mohamed Shareef

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Executive

4

Mr. Mohamed Luveiz

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-Executive

5

Mr. Abdul Haris

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Non-Executive

6

Ms. Aishath Arsha

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-Executive

7

Mr. Rabih Mohamed

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Non-Executive

8

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar

Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent & Non-Executive

9

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed

Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent & Non-Executive

10

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed

Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent & Non-Executive

During the 35th Annual General Meeting held on 13th May 2018, the Board of Directors was reconstituted with the following 11 Directors.

1

Ms. Saeeda Umar (Chairperson)

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-Executive

2

*Mr. Andrew Healy (CEO & MD)

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Executive

3

Mr. Mohamed Shareef

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Executive

4

Mr. Mohamed Luveiz

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-Executive

5

Mr. Abdul Haris

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Non-Executive

6

Ms. Aishath Arsha

Government Nominee, Independent & Non-Executive

7

Mr. Rabih Mohamed

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Non-Executive

8

Ms. Hawwa Safna

Government Nominee, Non-Independent & Non-Executive

9

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar

Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent & Non-Executive

10

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed

Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent & Non-Executive

11

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed

Elected by Public Shareholders, Independent & Non-Executive

Meetings of the Board during 2018 were held with the mandatory quorum of 09 members, three
fourths (3/4) of the entire Board, as required under section 15(g) of the Banking Act (Law No.
24/2010). The Board of Directors, under its discretionary powers as provided for under Articles
65 and 66 of the Bank’s AOA, formed a Board Credit Committee comprising of 07 members and
delegated a certain level of approval of credit proposals to this committee to ensure continuity
of business.
* With the expiration of Mr. Andrew Healy’s service agreement with BML, he ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer
and a member of the Board of Directors of the Bank effective from 30th November 2018.
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FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS
Board meetings were held at least once per month as required under law. The Board of Directors
held 15 meetings in 2018, with attendance as below.

DIRECTORS

MEETINGS
TO ATTEND

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

Ms. Saeeda Umar

15

15

Mr. Andrew Healy¹

14

11

Mr. Mohamed Shareef

15

15

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar

15

15

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed

15

15

Mr. Mohamed Luveiz

15

12

Mr. Abdul Haris

15

14

Ms. Aishath Arsha

15

15

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed

15

15

Mr. Rabih Mohamed

15

15

Ms. Hawwa Safna2

11

11

The Board Credit Committee held 02 meetings during 2018, with attendance as below.

DIRECTORS

MEETINGS
TO ATTEND

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

Ms. Saeeda Umar

2

2

Mr. Andrew Healy¹

2

2

Mr. Mohamed Shareef

2

2

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed

2

2

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar

2

2

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed

2

2

Ms. Aishath Arsha

2

2

¹ Tenure ended after expiration of employment contract on 30th November 2018.
² Appointed to the Board after the 35th Annual General Meeting held on 13th May 2018.

45

RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND CUSTOMERS
The Bank ensures by being transparent that all necessary information and services are made
available to shareholders and customers. In this regard, important developments including
quarterly financials, announcements and notices are displayed on the Bank’s website and on
social media for the information of shareholders and the general public.
All matters related to the shareholders are handled by the Bank’s Corporate Affairs Unit. The
Board of Directors and the Management welcome active participation from the shareholders at
the Bank’s General Meetings.

DECLARATION OF DIVIDEND FOR 2017
In 2018, the Board of Directors resolved to declare a final dividend of MVR 118,402,240 which
equates to MVR 22 per share for the year 2017.

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Bank published its annual consolidated financial statements which are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA)
Regulations and Capital Market Development Authority (CMDA) Regulations, with comprehensive
disclosures, enabling both existing and prospective shareholders to make a timely and fair
assessment of the Bank’s performance and prospects. The Bank, on quarterly basis, published
its latest financial performance on its website.

APPOINTMENT OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
At the 35th Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors approved to select and recommend
for the approval of shareholders that PricewaterhouseCoopers be appointed as the External
Auditors of the Bank for the year 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In compliance with Corporate Governance Code of Capital Market Development Authority (CG
Code):
The Bank published its Annual Report for the year 2018 within the regulatory timeframe.
The audited accounts, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS), were made available to shareholders and other stakeholders.
To ensure firm adherence to good corporate governance practices as stated in the CG Code,
the Bank abided by Corporate Governance Code of Bank.
Performance Assessments of individual directors and of the Board as a whole were conducted.
In all instances where a conflict of interest arose or had the potential to arise, the relevant board
member(s) removed himself/herself from the meeting of the Board and/or its sub-committees.

DUTIES OF THE BOARD
The overall duties of the board are:
Providing control and direction to the Management, including providing apex level leadership and
setting strategic aims/objectives for the Bank in conjunction with Management.
Deliberating on the Business Plan and the Annual Budget for the Bank.
Reviewing the business and financial performance of the Bank measured against the business
plan and the annual budget on a quarterly basis.
Ensuring the establishment of effective internal controls within the Bank which will enable risks to
be assessed, managed, and monitored to determine the effectiveness of such controls.
Ensuring the Bank has adequate human resources to meet its objectives.
Ensuring obligations to shareholders and other stakeholders are understood and met.
Ensuring the Bank complies with all relevant laws and regulations, including the Corporate
Governance Code of the Capital Market Development Authority and other codes of best practices.
In order to fulfil the aforementioned duties or any other function that the Board is obliged to carry
out, the Board may responsibly delegate its authorities to the most suitable subcommittee(s) of
the Board, Corporate Management, external professional(s), consultant(s) or to any such party or
parties that the Board deems fit in the best interests of the Bank.
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT
The Board of Directors hereby certifies that:
i.

The relevant accounting policies were considered and followed all through the preparation of
the Bank’s annual accounts with proper explanations relating to material departures.

ii.

It selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made judgements
and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a fair and true view of the Bank’s
state of affairs.

iii.

It has taken proper and sufficient care in terms of the maintenance of adequate accounting
records in accordance with the provisions of Companies’ Act of the Republic of Maldives
(Law no. 10/96), Maldives Banking Act (Law no. 24/2010), Prudential Regulations issued
by the Maldives Monetary Authority for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and preventing
and detecting frauds and other irregularities, Maldives Securities Act (Law no. 02/2006), the
Listing Rules and Securities (Continuing Disclosure Obligations of Issuers) Regulations 2010
issued by the Capital Market Development Authority.

iv.

It has followed the Corporate Governance Code issued by the Capital Market Development Authority.

v.

All statements and accounts were prepared on an ongoing concern basis.

vi. There were no unexpired service contracts within one year without payment of compensation

of any director proposed for election.
vii. The borrowings of the Bank as at the end of 2018 accounting period were as follows:
(In ‘000 MVR)
Not later than 1 year

553,682

Between 1 to 2 years

252,170

Between 2 to 3 years

70,491

Over 3 years

45,418

viii. The Bank’s Total Liabilities for the past two financial years were as follows:
(In ‘000 MVR)
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2017

16,816,849

2018

17,125,926

ix.

The Board of Directors affirms that there are no other interests of the Directors of the Bank
except those disclosed in this report and the accompanying financial statements. Please
refer to the notes to the financial statements, page no. 130 for details on related party
transactions.

x.

The Board of Directors further affirms that no major events have occurred since the balance
sheet date which would require adjustments to, or disclosure, in the financial statements.

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT
COMMITTEE REPORT
The Audit Committee was established in 2008 in accordance with Article 69 of the Articles of
Association (AOA) of the Bank and Section 1.8 of the Corporate Governance Code issued by
the Capital Market Development Authority, with a membership of 03. Subsequent to a review
of the Bank’s organizational structure during 2009, a risk function was incorporated into the
terms of reference of the Committee and it was renamed as the Audit and Risk Management
Committee. With the increased scope of work, the membership of the Committee was increased
to 05 members. The 12th Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Bank was constituted
after the 35th Annual General Meeting.

OBJECTIVES OF THE COMMITTEE
The purpose of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is to assist the Board in fulfilling its
responsibilities relating to:
The integrity of the Bank’s financial statements and financial reporting process and its
systems of internal accounting and financial controls.
The adequacy of the internal audit function, including reviewing the scope and results of
audits carried out with respect to the operations of the Bank.
The annual independent audit of the Bank’s financial statements.
The engagement of the external auditors and the evaluation of the external auditors’
qualifications, independence, objectivity, and performance.
Compliance by the Bank with legal and regulatory requirements, including its disclosure
requirements, controls and procedures.
Monitoring the effectiveness of the Bank's risk management framework related to the
identification, measurement, monitoring and controlling of risks.
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COMPOSITION AND FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS
A total of 36 meetings of the Audit and Risk Management Committee were held during 2018.
Membership and attendance details were as below:

MEETINGS
TO ATTEND

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed
Chairperson of the Committee
Non-Executive & Independent

36

36

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Non-Executive & Independent

36

35

Mr. Mohamed Luveiz
Non-Executive & Independent

36

17

Ms. Aishath Arsha
Non-Executive & Independent

36

35

Mr. Rabih Mohamed
Non-Executive & Non- Independent

36

34

DIRECTORS

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The Committee reviewed all of the Bank’s policies during the year. Amendments to the following
policies were recommended to, and approved by, the Board of Directors.
Insider Trading Policy
Cyber Security Policy
Delegation of Authority Policy
Procurement Policy
Credit Policy
Collateral Policy
Record Retention Policy
Operational Risk Policy
Anti-Money Laundering & Countering Financing of Terrorism (AML/CFT) Policy
The following were also reviewed by the Committee:
Bank’s Financial Statements for the year 2017
External Auditor’s Management Letter for the year 2017
Custodian Compliance Report 2017
Proposals regarding the appointment of External Auditors for the year 2018
Internal Audit Reports, including Quarterly Report
Risk Reports, including Quarterly Report
Quarterly Financial Statements
MMA Onsite Examination Report
Audit Plan for the year 2019
Budget for the year 2019
Risk Appetite Statement
Quarterly Non-performing Assets and Loan Portfolio Report
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INTERNAL CONTROLS
To further reinforce the internal control mechanisms of the Bank, the Committee, with the
assistance of the Chief Internal Auditor (CIA) and the Internal Audit Department (IAD), reviewed
the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls, which includes financial, operational, and
compliance controls, and procedures for the identification, assessment and reporting of risks.
The Internal Audit Department tests and validates the adequacy of internal controls and reports
directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board. As per the approved Audit
Plan, the CIA reported to the Committee on a quarterly basis. Action points were highlighted and
conveyed to the management to strengthen internal controls.
The Committee is satisfied that the Bank’s internal controls are adequate.
During 2018, there were no issues raised through the Bank’s Whistle Blowing System.

EXTERNAL AUDIT
PricewaterhouseCoopers were confirmed as the Bank’s External Auditors with the approval of
shareholders in the 35th Annual General Meeting held on 13th May 2018.
During 2018, the external auditors have not provided any non-audit related services to the Bank
or its subsidiary.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

Ibrahim Mohamed
Chairperson
Audit and Risk Management Committee
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APPOINTMENT, NOMINATION AND
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The 12th Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee (ANR Committee) was
constituted after the 35th Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Articles 54 and 63 of the
Articles of Association (AOA) of the Bank and Section 1.8 (a) and (b) of the Corporate Governance
Code issued by the Capital Market Development Authority (CMDA).
The Committee performs the functions of both a Nominating Committee and a Remuneration
Committee. It was combined as the Board considered the required functions of these two
committees would be better undertaken by a single committee in view of the scope, functions
and expertise of the members of the Board. The purpose of the ANR Committee is to establish
and recommend to the Board a framework of remuneration packages for Directors and Executive
Management. With respect to appointment and nomination issues, the Committee identifies and
makes recommendations on Board and Executive Management appointments and conducts an
annual review of the Board’s performance and training needs. The Committee also undertakes
tasks which affect staff, including but not limited to the review of policies related to employees,
salaries and benefits.
The primary roles and responsibilities of the Committee stipulated under Article 54 of the AOA
of the Bank are:
Identify and shortlist suitable candidates to be nominated by the Government as Independent
Directors.
Identify suitable candidates who meet the requirements of Article 53 of the AOA of the Bank
to be nominated by the Government for Board appointment or reappointment to ensure a
suitable mix of Executive and Non-Executive members on the Board of Directors; in this
regard, a minimum of 14 names must be recommended to the Government for consideration.
Review the qualifications and experience of candidates nominated to the Board prior to the
Annual General Meeting to ensure the information provided to shareholders is accurate.
Identify suitable candidates with sufficient banking qualifications and experience to be
nominated for appointment as the Managing Director of the Company by the Board of
Directors pursuant to Article 80 of the AOA of the Bank.
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Under Article 47 of the AOA of the Bank, at least 03 directors appointed to the Board shall
be persons nominated by the General Shareholders from among the General Shareholders.
Subsequent to the notice issued on 15th January 2018 inviting public shareholders to apply, a
total of 03 candidates applied, all of whom were shortlisted for the Public Directorship positions.
The Bank is committed to promoting gender diversity in the boardroom and its policy is to
welcome female representation on the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 1.6
(a)(vi) of the Corporate Governance Code issued by CMDA. At present there are 04 female
representatives on the Board of Directors.

COMPOSITION AND FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS
There were 29 meetings of the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the
Board during 2018. Membership and attendance details were as below.

MEETINGS
TO ATTEND

MEETINGS
ATTENDED

29

28

Mr. Ibrahim Mohamed
Non-Executive and Independent

29

29

Mr. Abdul Haris
Non-Executive & Non-Independent

29

28

Mr. Mohamed Luveiz
Non-Executive & Independent

29

21

Ms. Ibthishama Ahmed Saeed
Non-Executive & Independent

29

19

DIRECTORS

Mr. Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Chairperson of the Committee
Non-Executive and Independent

BOARD EVALUATION
Fostering good governance has been and continues to be a high priority of the Bank. An
evaluation of individual directors and an evaluation of the Board as a whole was conducted in
2018 as mandated under section 2.2 of the Corporate Governance Code of the Capital Market
Development Authority. The results of these evaluations were reviewed by the Board of Directors.
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REMUNERATION
Directors were remunerated as per Article 63 of the Articles of Association of the Bank. There
were no Executive Directors of the Bank serving as Non-Executive Directors elsewhere during
2018.
The table below sets out the breakdown of remuneration paid from 01st January 2018 to
31st December 2018 for the Board of Directors and Key Management Personnel. Aggregate
remuneration details are disclosed as further breakdown would place the Bank at a relative
disadvantage versus competitors who do not disclose such information.

REMUNERATION DETAILS

AMOUNT (MVR)

Board of Directors

2,240,016

Executive Management

25,051,815

COMMITTEE ACTIVITIES
The Committee recommended to the Board the following appointments during 2018:

Ms. Saeeda Umar

Chairperson

The Committee reviewed the following during the year:
Names proposed for Nominee Director positions
Applications received for Public Directorship Positions
Renewal of engagement of Shari’ah Advisory Committee members

On behalf of the Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Mohamed Abdul Sattar
Chairperson
Appointment, Nomination and Remuneration Committee
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07
SHARI’AH ADVISORY
COMMITTEE REPORT
The Shari’ah Advisory Committee (SAC) was established by the Board of Directors in 2013 to advise
on the operations of the Bank’s Islamic Banking window, “BML Islamic”, and to ensure its operations
are fully Shari’ah compliant. The SAC provides its opinions with due regard to the regulations of the
Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA) and the opinions of the Shari’ah Council of MMA.
The duties and responsibilities of the SAC pursuant to the Islamic Banking Regulation 2011 and the
Shari’ah Compliance Manual of BML Islamic include to:
Advise the Bank on Shari’ah related matters.
Endorse a Shari’ah Compliance Manual.
Endorse product documentation to ensure Shari’ah compliance.
Assess internal Shari’ah compliance and audit reports, and
Provide written Shari’ah opinions.
It is the responsibility of the Management to ensure BML Islamic’s activities are carried out in a
Shari’ah compliant manner, in accordance with the Shari’ah Compliance Manual endorsed by the
SAC. A dedicated Shari’ah Department is in place in the Bank to continuously monitor the activities of
BML Islamic and to report directly to the SAC.
During 2018, the Shari’ah Department submitted four quarterly reports to the SAC detailing its
monitoring of BML Islamic’s operations, the degree of compliance, and the steps taken to strengthen
operations.
Based on the Shari’ah Department’s reports and Management representations, in our opinion, the
operations of BML Islamic in 2018 have been conducted in accordance with the rules and principles
of Islamic Shari’ah and the guidelines and directives given by the Shari’ah Advisory Council of MMA
and the Bank’s SAC.

Sheikh Mahomed Shoaib Omar
Chairman
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Mufti Yusuf Suliman
Member

Dr. Ziyaad Mahomed
Member

Dr. Ismail Nizam
Member
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)
Notes
Gross income

2018

2017

2,516,518

2,293,180

Interest income
Interest expense

3
3

1,618,592
(142,400)

1,408,666
(92,328)

Net interest income

3

1,476,192

1,316,338

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense

4
4

808,002
(291,800)

788,818
(261,759)

Net fee and commission income

4

516,202

527,059

Net foreign exchange income
Other operating income (net)

5
6

56,582
33,342

68,686
27,011

2,082,318

1,939,093

Total operating income
Credit impairment reversal/(charge)

7

Net operating income

22,252
2,104,570

Personnel expenses
Other operating expenses

8
9

Total operating expenses
Profit before tax
10

Net profit for the year

1,894,869

(268,796)
(233,875)

(254,296)
(224,142)

(502,671)

(478,438)

1,601,899

Income tax expense

(44,224)

(503,139)
1,098,760

1,416,431
(378,250)
1,038,181

Other comprehensive income net of tax
Revaluation surplus of Bank premises
Deferred tax impact on revaluation of Bank premises
Net gains on re-measuring of FVOCI equity investments
Net income tax (reversal) relating to components of re-measuring of equity investments

21,043
(5,261)

47,435
(4,773)
38,927
(9,732)

15,782

71,857

1,114,542

1,110,038

204

193

10.3
10.3

Other comprehensive income for the year net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
Earnings per share - Basic/diluted (MVR)

11

The accounting
accountingpolicies
policiesand
andnotes
noteson
onpages
pages67
10through
through136
79 form
The
form an
an integral
integral part of the financial statements.
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2018

(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)
Assets

Notes

Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets

13
14
15
16
17
19
20
21
22
23

Total assets

2018

2017

1,332,292
1,843,416
1,899,793
12,198,904
4,796,577
144,526
346,186
63,790
347,619

1,322,853
1,913,495
1,750,216
12,221,060
4,381,825
123,483
10
336,894
72,089
243,042

22,973,103

22,364,967

15,257,418
921,761
22,805
315,381
16,228
592,333

15,186,717
793,602
16,189
310,644
22,848
486,849

17,125,926

16,816,849

362,096
1,102,281
4,382,800

362,096
1,064,343
4,121,680

5,847,177

5,548,118

22,973,103

22,364,967

1,727,717

2,766,672

Liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
Bank profit tax liability
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities

24
25
27
10.2
10.3
26

Total liabilities
Equity
Share capital
Retained earnings
Other reserves

28
29

Total equity
Total liabilities and equity
Commitments and contingencies

32.4.10

The Board of Directors are responsible for the preparation and presentation of these financial statements. Signed for and on behalf of
the Board by;

……….....….….………….
Nandana Senevirathne
Chief Financial Officer

……….....….….………….
Aishath Noordeen
Deputy CEO/ In-charge of the Bank

……….....….….…………
Saeeda Umar
Chairperson

The accounting policies and
forman
anintegral
integralpart
partof
ofthe
thefinancial
financial statements.
statements.
and notes
notes on
on pages
pages 67
10 through
through 136
79 form

20 March 2019
Male'
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5,548,118

(21,439)
606,241

92,374

(4,723)
122,070

976,430
-

-

-

(976,430)
21,439
4,723

-

-

Transfer to general reserves

Transfer to reserve for loan loss provision

880
-

-

108,156

880
(3,520)

854,220
-

6,000

150,000

(118,402)
(854,220)
3,520

93,000

269,096

Dividends to equity holders

10.3
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Balance as at 31 December 2018

Depreciation transfer on revaluation assets

Deferred tax on excess depreciation

Transfer to general reserves

3,999,214

5,847,177

(118,402)
-

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income net of tax

119,430

15,783
15,782
-

-

-

1,098,760

-

-

Net profit for the year

1,102,281

1,098,760
-

12.1

4,850,156
92,374
122,070
-

6,000

150,000

972,622

93,000

269,096

3,144,994

198,834
-

-

198,834

-

-

10.3

Recognition of deferred tax asset

Restated balance at 1 January 2018

(896,796)
(606,241)
-

-

-

(290,554)

-

-

2.10

6,000

150,000

1,064,343

93,000

269,096

Changes on initial application of IFRS 9

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Depreciation transfer on revaluation assets

29.1
3,144,994

(107,638)
-

-

-

-

(107,638)

-

-

Dividends to equity holders

-

71,858
29,196

42,662

-

-

-

-

-

-

Other comprehensive income net of tax

12.1

1,038,181
-

-

-

-

-

1,038,181

-

-

4,545,717
627,680
63,178

84,131

2,168,564

Net profit for the year

Balance as at 1 January 2017

6,000

Total

Reserve for
loan loss
provision

FVOCI
reserve

Revaluation
reserve

General
reserve

150,000

Statutory
reserve

1,084,068

Retained
earnings

Reserves
Assigned
capital
reserve

93,000

Notes

Share capital
Ordinary
Share
voting
premium
shares
269,096

(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December 2018

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)

Cash flows from operating activities

Notes

Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Other non cash items included in profit before tax
Increase in operating assets
Increase in operating liabilities
Bank profit tax paid
Net cash flows generated from operating activities

34.2
34.3
34.4
10.2

2018

2017

1,601,899

1,416,431

(203,274)
(1,209,690)
310,960
(310,569)
189,327

(488,336)
(2,690,547)
2,543,411
(317,596)
463,363

(58,701)
(3,060)
263
10
(61,487)

(69,074)
(5,560)
513
(74,120)

(118,402)
(118,402)

(107,638)
(107,638)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Liquidation of subsidiary
Net cash flows used in investing activities

21
22

Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid to equity holders
Net cash flows used in financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

34.1

9,438
1,322,853
1,332,292

Theaccounting
accounting
policies
notes
on pages
10 through
79 form
an integral
part
the financial
statements.
The
policies
andand
notes
on pages
67 through
136 form
an integral
part of
theoffinancial
statements.
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281,606
1,041,247
1,322,853

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

1

Corporate information

1.1

Reporting entity
Bank of Maldives PLC (“the Bank”) is a public quoted company incorporated on 11 November 1982 with limited liability
and domiciled in the Republic of Maldives. The registered office of the Bank is situated at 11, Boduthakurufaanu Magu,
Male’ 20094, Republic of Maldives. The Bank is listed on the Maldives Stock Exchange.

1.2

Principal activities and nature of operations
The Bank provides a comprehensive range of financial services including corporate and retail banking, deposit services,
treasury and investment services, project financing, trade financing, issuing of credit cards and debit cards, electronic
banking and money remittance services. It is engaged in both conventional and Islamic banking.

2

Basis of preparation

2.1

Statement of compliance
The financial statements of the Bank, which comprise the statement of financial position, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements, have been prepared
and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

2.2

Approval of financial statements by the Board of Directors
The financial statements of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2018 were authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors (together referred to as the “Board”) in accordance with the resolution of the Board on 20 March 2019.

2.3

Basis of measurement
The financial statements of the Bank have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following material
items in the statement of financial position which are measured at fair value:
• Financial instruments at amortized cost.
• Financial instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
• Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss (FVPL).
• Land and buildings at revalued value.

2.4

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements of the Bank are presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa, which is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Bank operates. Financial information presented in Maldivian Rufiyaa has been rounded to the
nearest thousand unless indicated otherwise.
The Bank determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements are measured using that
functional currency. There was no change in the Bank’s presentation and functional currency during the year under review.

2.5

Presentation of financial statements
The Bank’s items presented in their statements of financial position are grouped by nature and are listed in an order that
reflects their relative liquidity and maturity pattern. No adjustments have been made for inflationary factors affecting the
financial statements. An analysis of recovery or settlement within 12 months after the reporting date (current) and more
than 12 months after the reporting date (non-current) is presented in Note 35.
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

2.6

Materiality and aggregation
In compliance with IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, each material class of similar items is presented separately
in the financial statements. Items of dissimilar nature or functions are also presented separately unless they are considered
to be immaterial.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position only
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or to realize the assets and settle the liability simultaneously. Income and expenses are not offset in the statement of
comprehensive income unless required or permitted by accounting standards.

2.7

Comparative information
The accounting policies have been consistently applied by the Bank with those of the previous financial year in accordance
with IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, except those which had to be changed as a result of applying IFRS 9
Financial instruments with regard to impairment of financial instruments. Further, information has been reclassified
wherever necessary to provide better relative comparisons. The details of any reclassification have been provided in Note
2.10 and Note 41.

2.8

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the
actual results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the Bank’s accounting policies.
This note provides an overview of the areas that involve a higher degree of judgement or complexity, and major sources of
estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial year.
Detailed information about each of these estimates and judgements is included in the related notes together with
information about the basis of calculation for each affected line item in the financial statements.

2.8.1

Going concern
The Board of Directors made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that it has
the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore, the Board is not aware of any material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and it does not intend
either to liquidate or to cease the Bank’s operations. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the
going concern basis.

2.8.2

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date under current market
conditions (i.e. an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position
cannot be derived from active markets, they are determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of
valuation models. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not
feasible, estimation is required in establishing fair values. Judgements and estimates include considerations of liquidity
and model inputs related to items such as credit risk (both own and counterparty), funding value adjustments, correlation
and volatility. The valuation of financial instruments is described in more detail in Note 31 to the financial statements.

2.8.3

Measurement of the expected credit loss (ECL) allowance
The measurement of ECL allowance for financial assets measured at amortised cost and FVOCI is an area that requires the
use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions and credit behaviour (e.g. the
likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation
techniques used in measuring ECL is further detailed in Note 32.4.3.3, which also sets out key sensitivities of the ECL to
changes in these elements.
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

A number of significant judgements are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as:
•
•
•
•

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risks.
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL.
Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios and the associated ECL.
Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Bank in the above areas is set outin Note 32.4.3.
2.8.4

Fair value of property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings of the Bank are reflected at fair value. The Bank engaged independent valuation specialists to
determine the fair value of land and buildings. When current market prices of similar assets are available, such evidence is
considered in estimating fair values of these assets.

2.8.5

Useful life time of property, plant and equipment and intangible asset
The Bank reviews the residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets at each reporting date. Judgment of the management is exercised in the estimation of these values, rates,
methods and hence they are subject to uncertainty.

2.8.6

Commitments and contingencies
All discernible risks are accounted for in determining the amount of all known liabilities. Contingent liabilities are possible
obligations whose existence will be confirmed only by uncertain future events or present obligations where the transfer of
economic benefit is not probable or cannot be reliably measured. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement
of financial position but are disclosed unless they are remote.

2.9

Significant accounting policies
This note sets out the significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements.

2.9.1

Financial assets and liabilities
Amortized cost and effective interest rate
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition minus
the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference
between that initial amount and the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before
any impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a financial liability. The calculation does not consider expected
credit losses but includes transaction costs, premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or received that are integral to
the effective interest rate, such as origination fees.
When the Bank revises the estimates of future cash flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial assets or
financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new estimate discounted using the original effective interest rate. Any changes
are recognised in profit or loss.
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BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

Interest income
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial assets, except
for financial assets that are not impaired at origination but have subsequently become credit-impaired (or ‘stage 3’), for
which interest revenue is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of the expected
credit loss provision).
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument. Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus, in the case of
a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are incremental and
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial liability, such as fees and commissions.
Transaction costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in
profit or loss. Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial
assets measured at amortised cost and investments in debt instruments measured at FVOCI, as described in Note 32.4.3,
which results in an accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when an asset is newly originated.
When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities differs from the transaction price on initial recognition, the entity
recognises the difference as follows:
(a)

(b)

When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a Level 1
input) or based on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, the difference is recognised as
a gain or loss.
In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss is
determined individually. It is either amortised over the life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair
value can be determined using market observable inputs, or realised through settlement.

2.9.1.1 Financial assets
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement
From 1 January 2018, the Bank has applied IFRS 9 and classifies its financial assets in the following measurement
categories:
• Amortised cost; or
• Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).
The classification requirements for debt and equity instruments are described below:
Debt instruments
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s perspective, such as
loans, government and corporate bonds and trade receivables purchased from clients in factoring arrangements without
recourse.
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt instruments depend on:
• the Bank’s business model for managing the asset; and
• the cash flow characteristics of the asset.
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Based on these factors, the Bank classifies its debt instruments into one of the following three measurement categories:
•

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at amortised cost.
The carrying amount of these assets is adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance recognised and measured as
described in Note 32.4.3. Income from these financial assets is included in ‘interest income’ using the effective
interest rate method.

•

Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI). Movements in the carrying amount are taken through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains
or losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised as ‘net investment income’. Income
from these financial assets is included in ‘interest income’ using the effective interest rate method.

Business model: the business model reflects how the Bank manages the assets in order to generate cash flows. That is,
whether the Bank’s objective is solely to collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is to collect both the
contractual cash flows and cash flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these is applicable (e.g. financial assets
are held for trading purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part of ‘other’ business model and measured at
FVPL. Factors considered by the Bank in determining the business model for a group of assets include past experience on
how the cash flows for these assets were collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and reported to key
management personnel, how risks are assessed and managed and how managers are compensated. For example, the Bank’s
business model for the mortgage loan book is to hold to collect contractual cash flows, with no resulting derecognition by
the Bank. Another example is the liquidity portfolio of assets, which is held by the Bank as part of liquidity management
and is generally classified within the hold to collect and sell business model. Securities held for trading are held principally
for the purpose of selling in the near term or are part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and
for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. These securities are classified in the
‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL.
SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual cash flows and
sell, the Bank assesses whether the financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest
(the ‘SPPI test’). In making this assessment, the Bank considers whether the contractual cash flows are consistent with a
basic lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only consideration for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic
lending risks and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the contractual terms
introduce exposure to risk or volatility that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement, the related financial asset is
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
The Bank reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for managing those assets changes. The
reclassification takes place from the start of the first reporting period following the change. No reclasifications were done
during the year.
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Equity instruments
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is, instruments that
do not contain a contractual obligation to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the issuer’s net assets. Examples of
equity instruments include basic ordinary shares.
The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value through profit or loss, except where the Bank’s
management has elected, at initial recognition, to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income. The Bank’s policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI when those investments are held
for purposes other than to generate investment returns. When this election is used, fair value gains and losses are
recognised in OCI and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss, including on disposal. Impairment losses (and
reversal of impairment losses) are not reported separately from other changes in fair value. Dividends, when representing a
return on such investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Bank’s right to receive
payments is established.
Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are included in the ‘net trading income’ line in the statement of profit or
loss.
(ii) Impairment
The Bank assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (‘ECL’) associated with its debt instrument assets
carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and with the exposure arising from loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts. The Bank recognises a loss allowance for such losses at each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:
•
•
•

An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
The time value of money; and
Reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Note 32.4.3 provides more detail of how the expected credit loss allowance is measured.
(iii) Modification of loans
The Bank sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When this
happens, the Bank assesses whether or not the new terms are substantially different to the original terms. The Bank does
this by considering, among others, the following factors:
•
•
•
•
•
•

If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows to
amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay.
Whether any substantial new terms are introduced, such as a profit share/equity-based return that substantially
affects the risk profile of the loan.
Significant extension of the loan term when the borrower is not in financial difficulty.
Significant change in the interest rate.
Change in the currency the loan was originally denominated in.
Insertion of collateral, other security or credit enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk associated with
the loan.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank derecognises the original financial asset and recognises a ‘new’ asset at
fair value and recalculates a new effective interest rate for the asset. The date of renegotiation is consequently considered
to be the date of initial recognition for impairment calculation purposes, including for the purpose of determining whether
a significant increase in credit risk has occurred. However, the Bank also assesses whether the new financial asset
recognised is deemed to be credit-impaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances where the renegotiation was
driven by the debtor being unable to make the originally agreed payments. Differences in the carrying amount are also
recognised in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

-15-

72

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

If the terms are not substantially different, the renegotiation or modification does not result in derecognition, and the Bank
recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the financial asset and recognises a modification
gain or loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at the
original effective interest rate.
The impact of modifications of financial assets on the expected credit loss (ECL) calculation is discussed in Note 32.4.7.
(iv) Derecognition other than on a modification
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the assets
have expired, or when they have been transferred and either (i) the Bank transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership, or (ii) the Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and the Bank has
not retained control.
The Bank enters into transactions where it retains the contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but assumes a
contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards. These
transactions are accounted for as ‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition if the Bank:
•
•
•

Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects equivalent amounts from the assets.
Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets.
Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the assets without material delay.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Bank under standard repurchase agreements and securities lending and
borrowing transactions are not derecognised because the Bank retains substantially all the risks and rewards on the basis of
the predetermined repurchase price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore not met. This also applies to certain
securitisation transactions in which the Bank retains a subordinated residual interest.
2.9.1.2 Financial liabilities
(i) Classification and subsequent measurement
In both the current and prior period, financial liabilities are classified as subsequently measured at amortised cost, except for:
•

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss: this classification is applied to derivatives, financial liabilities
held for trading (e.g. short positions in the trading book) and other financial liabilities designated as such at initial
recognition. Gains or losses on financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss are presented partially
in other comprehensive income (the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability, which is determined as the amount that is not attributable to changes in
market conditions that give rise to market risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining amount of change in the fair
value of the liability). This is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge, an accounting mismatch, in which
case the gains and losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the liability are also presented in profit or loss;

•

Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial assets which did not qualify for derecognition, whereby a
financial liability is recognised for the consideration received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the Bank
recognises any expense incurred on the financial liability; and

•

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments (refer Note 2.9.2).

-16-

73

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

(ii) Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires).
The exchange between the Bank and its original lenders of debt instruments with substantially different terms, as well as
substantial modifications of the terms of existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an extinguishment of the
original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. The terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at least 10% different from the discounted present value of the
remaining cash flows of the original financial liability. In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the currency that the
instrument is denominated in, changes in the type of interest rate, new conversion features attached to the instrument and
change in covenants are also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred
adjust the carrying amount of the liability and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.
2.9.2

Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a debt
instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and others on behalf of customers to secure
loans, overdrafts and other banking facilities.
Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of:
• The amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in Note 32.4.3); and
• The premium received on initial recognition less income recognised in accordance with the principles of IFRS 15.
Loan commitments provided by the Bank are measured as the amount of the loss allowance (calculated as described in
Note 32.4.3). The Bank has not provided any commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest rate, or that can be
settled net in cash or by delivering or issuing another financial instrument.
For loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision. However, for
contracts that include both a loan and an undrawn commitment and the Bank cannot separately identify the expected credit
losses on the undrawn commitment component from those on the loan component, the expected credit losses on the
undrawn commitment are recognised together with the loss allowance for the loan. To the extent that the combined
expected credit losses exceed the gross carrying amount of the loan, the expected credit losses are recognised as a
provision.

2.9.3

Foreign currency transactions and balances
All foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency, which is Maldivian Rufiyaa, using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates after the transactions were effected.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated to Maldivian Rufiyaa
using the mid exchange rate (simple average of buy and sell exchange rates) applying at that date and all differences
arising on non-trading activities are taken to other operating income in the statement of comprehensive income.
Non-monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured in terms of historical cost are translated using the exchange
rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items in foreign currency measured at fair value are translated
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Foreign exchange differences arising on the settlement or reporting of monetary items at rates different from those which
were initially recorded are dealt with in the statement of comprehensive income.
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2.10

Changes in accounting policies
The Bank has adopted IFRS 9 Financial instruments issued by the IASB in July 2014 with a date of transition of 1 January
2018, which resulted in changes in accounting policies and adjustments to the amounts previously recognised in the
financial statements. The Bank did not early adopt any of IFRS 9 in the previous periods.
As permitted by the transitional provisions of IFRS 9, the Bank elected not to restate comparative figures. Any adjustments
to the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities at the date of transition were recognised in the opening retained
earnings and other reserves of the current period.
Consequently, for notes disclosures, the consequential amendments to IFRS 7 disclosures have also only been applied to
the current period. The comparative period notes disclosures repeat those disclosures made in the comparative year.
The adoption of IFRS 9 has resulted in changes in the accounting policies for recognition, classification and measurement
of financial assets and financial liabilities and impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also significantly amends other
accounting standards dealing with financial instruments such as IFRS 7 Financial instruments: Disclosures.
Set out below are disclosures relating to the impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 on the Bank. Further details of the specific
IFRS 9 accounting policies applied in the current period (as well as the previous IAS 39 accounting policies applied in the
comparative period) are described in more detail in Note 2.9.

2.10.1 Classification and measurement of financial instruments
The measurement category and the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities in accordance with IAS 39 and IFRS
9 at 1 January 2018 are compared as follows:
IAS 39
Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives
Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI

Measurement category
Amortized cost (Loans
and receivables)
Amortized cost (Loans
and receivables)
Amortized cost (Loans
and receivables)
Amortized cost (Loans
and receivables)
Amortized cost (Held to
maturity)
FVOCI (Available for
sale)

IFRS 9
Measurement
category

Carrying
amount

Carrying
amount

1,322,853

Amortized cost

1,322,853

1,913,495

Amortized cost

1,913,495

1,750,216

Amortized cost

1,749,953

12,221,060

Amortized cost

11,325,183

4,381,825

Amortized cost

4,381,168

123,483

FVOCI

21,712,932

123,483
20,816,136

There were no changes to the classification and measurement of financial liabilities.
These are now presented in other comprehensive income (refer to note 2.9.1.2 (i)).
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2.10.2 Reconciliation of Statement of Financial Position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9
The Bank performed a detailed analysis of its business models for managing financial assets and analysis of their cash flow
characteristics.
Please refer to Note 2.9.1.1 (i) for more detailed information regarding the new classification requirements of IFRS 9.
The following table reconciles the carrying amounts of financial assets, from their previous measurement category in
accordance with IAS 39 to their new measurement categories upon transition to IFRS 9 on 1 January 2018:

Amortized cost

Ref

Cash and cash equivalents
Opening balance under IAS 39 and
closing balance under IFRS 9
Statutory deposit with Maldives
Monetary Authority
Opening balance under IAS 39 and
closing balance under IFRS 9
Placements with banks
Opening balance under IAS 39
Remeasurement: ECL allowance
Closing balance under IFRS 9

Financial assets - Held to maturity
Opening balance under IAS 39
Subtraction: To amortized cost (IFRS
9)
Closing balance under IFRS 9
Total Financial assets measured at
amortized cost

-

-

1,322,853

1,913,495

-

-

1,913,495

(263)

12,221,060

(A)

IFRS 9 carrying
amount
01 Jan 2018
Remeasurement
s

1,322,853

1,750,216

Loans and receivables to customers
Opening balance under IAS 39
Remeasurement: ECL allowance
Closing balance under IFRS 9
Financial assets at amortized cost
Opening balance under IAS 39
Addition: From held to maturity (IAS
39)
Remeasurement: ECL allowance
Closing balance under IFRS 9

IAS 39 carrying
amount
31 Dec 2017 Reclassifications

(895,876)

11,325,183

4,381,825
(657)

(A)

1,749,953

4,381,168

4,381,825
(4,381,825)
21,589,449

-

(896,796)

20,692,653

(A) Reclassification from retired categories with no change in measurement
In addition to the above, those previously classified as available for sale assets have been reclassified to new categories
under IFRS 9, as their previous categories under IAS 39 were ‘retired’, with no changes to their measurement basis:
(i) Those previously classified as available for sale and now classified as measured at FVOCI.
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Fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Ref

Financial assets - Available for sale
Opening balance under IAS 39 and
closing balance under IFRS 9
Total financial assets measured at
FVOCI
Total financial assets

IAS 39
carrying
amount
31 Dec 2017 Reclassifications

IFRS 9 carrying
amount
1 Jan 2018
Remeasurement
s

123,483

-

-

123,483

123,483

-

-

123,483

21,712,932

-

(896,796)

20,816,136

2.10.3 Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9
The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IAS 39
incurred loss model to the new impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss model at
01 January 2018:

Measurement category

Loan loss
allowance
under IAS 39 Reclassifications Remeasurements

Loan Loss
Allowance
under IFRS 9

Loans and receivables (IAS 39)/financial
assets at amortised cost (IFRS 9)
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

331,309
331,309

-

263
825,784
826,046

263
1,157,092
1,157,355

-

-

657

657

-

-

-

-

Held to maturity (IAS 39)/financial assets
at amortised cost (IFRS 9)
Financial investments - Held to maturity
Available for sale financial instruments
(IAS 39)/financial assets at FVOCI (IFRS
Financial investments - Available for sale
Loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts
Loans and receivables to customers (Loan
commitments)
Provisions (Financial guarantees)
Total

331,309

-

67,757
2,335
896,796

67,757
2,335
1,228,105

Further information on the measurement of the impairment allowance under IFRS 9 is available in Note 32.4.3.
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2.11

Financial instruments

2.11.1

Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at amortised cost are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities, which the Bank has the intention and ability to hold to maturity. After the initial recognition, financial assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate (EIR) less impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees that are an integral part of the EIR.
The amortisation is included in ‘interest income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from
impairment of such investments are recognised in ‘credit impairment losses' in the statement of comprehensive income.
The Bank considers objective evidence of impairment for loans and receivables to customers and financial assets at
amortised cost.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying
amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash ﬂows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss and recorded as part of ‘interest income’.

2.11.1.1 Loans and receivables to customers
Loans and receivables to customers include non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market, other than:
•
•
•

those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the near term and those that the Bank, upon initial recognition,
designates at fair value through profit or loss.
those that the Bank, upon initial recognition, designates as FVOCI.
those for which the Bank may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, other than because of credit
deterioration.

Loans and receivables to customers are initially recognised at amortised cost, which is the cash consideration to originate
the loan including any transaction costs and carried subsequently with accrued interest. Interest on loans and receivables
is included in the statement of comprehensive income and is reported as ‘interest income’. In the case of impairment, the
impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the loan and receivable and recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income as ‘credit impairment losses’.
Details of loans and receivables to customers are given in Note 16 to the financial statements.
2.11.1.2 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, balances with banks, and money at call and short notice that are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their value.
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost in the statement of financial position. Details of cash and cash
equivalents are given in Note 13 to the financial statements.
For the purpose of the statement of cash flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as
defined above.
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2.11.2

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Financial assets at FVOCI includes both quoted and unquoted equity. Equity investments classified as FVOCI are
financial assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, and that are not designated at FVPL. The Bank has not
designated any loans or receivables as FVOCI. After initial measurement, financial assets are subsequently measured at
fair value. Unrealised gains and losses are recognised directly in the statement for other comprehensive income as part of
equity. When the investment is disposed off, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised, in
the statement of comprehensive income in ‘net gain/ (loss) from financial investments’. Where the Bank holds more than
one investment in the same security, they are deemed to be disposed off on a first-in first-out basis. Dividends earned
whilst holding financial investments’ are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as ‘net gain/ (loss) from
financial investments’ when the right of the payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment of such
investments are recognised in ‘impairment for loans and other losses’ in the statement of comprehensive income and
removed from equity.
For FVOCI financial investments, the Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that an
investment is impaired.
In the case of debt instruments classified as FVOCI, the Bank assesses individually whether there is objective evidence of
impairment based on the same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However, the amount recorded for
impairment is the cumulative loss measured as the difference between the amortised cost and the current fair value, less
any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Future interest
income is based on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash
flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. This interest income is recorded as part of interest income under
‘loans and receivables to customers’. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument increases and the
increase can be objectively related to a credit event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, the impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.
The Bank writes off financial assets at FVOCI when they are determined to be uncollectible.

2.11.3

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial instruments issued by the Bank that are not designated at fair value through profit or loss, are classified as
liabilities under ‘due to banks’, ‘due to customers’ and ‘debt issued and other borrowed funds’ as appropriate, where the
substance of the contractual arrangement results in the Bank having an obligation either to deliver cash or another
financial asset to the holder, or to satisfy the obligation other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of own equity shares at amortised cost using the EIR method.
After initial recognition, such financial liabilities are substantially measured at amortised cost using the EIR method.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on the issue and costs that are an integral
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in ‘interest expenses’ in the statement of comprehensive income. Gains
and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the EIR amortisation process.
The details of the Bank’s financial liabilities at amortised cost are shown in Note 25 and Note 26 to the financial
statements.

2.11.4

Securities lending and borrowing
Securities lending and borrowing transactions are usually collateralised by securities or cash. The transfer of the securities
to counterparties is only reflected on the statement of financial position if the risks and rewards of ownership are also
transferred. Cash advanced or received as collateral is recorded as an asset or liability. Securities borrowed are not
recognised in the statement of financial position, unless they are then sold to third parties, in which case the obligation to
return the securities is recorded as a trading liability and measured at fair value with any gains or losses included in ‘net
trading income’.
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2.12

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or contains a lease, is based on the substance of the arrangement
and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or
assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.

2.12.1

Operating lease
Operating leases are those leasing arrangements that do not transfer to the Bank, substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of the leased items. When the Bank is the lessee, leased assets are not recognised on the
statement of financial position, rentals payable under operating leases are accounted for on a straight line basis over the
periods of the leases and are included in ‘other operating expenses’.

2.13

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible items that are held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, for
rental to others or for administrative purposes and are expected to be used during more than one period. The Bank applies
the requirements of the IAS 16 - Property, plant and equipment in accounting for these assets.

2.13.1

Recognition
Property, plant and equipment are recognised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will
flow to the Bank and the cost of the asset can be reliably measured.

2.13.2

Measurement
An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset is initially measured at its cost. Cost
includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset and cost incurred subsequently to add to,
replace part of, or service it. The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use and the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. Purchased software that is integral to the
functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of computer equipment.

2.13.3

Cost Model
The Bank applies the cost model to property, plant and equipment except for freehold land and buildings and records at
cost of purchase or construction together with any incidental expenses thereon less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Such costs include the cost of replacing part of the equipment when that cost is incurred,
if the recognition criteria are met.
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2.13.4

Revaluation model
The Bank applies the revaluation model to the entire class of freehold land and buildings. Such properties are carried at
a revalued amount, being their fair value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Freehold land and buildings of the Bank are revalued every five years on a
roll over basis to ensure that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from the fair values at the reporting date. On
revaluation of an asset, any increase in the carrying amount is recognised in ‘other comprehensive income’ and
accumulated in equity, under revaluation reserve or used to reverse a previous revaluation decrease relating to the same
asset, which was charged to the statement of comprehensive income. In this circumstance, the increase is recognised as
income to the extent of the previous write-down. Any decrease in the carrying amount is recognised as an expense in
the statement of comprehensive income or debited in the other comprehensive income to the extent of any credit
balance existing in the capital reserve in respect of that asset. The decrease recognised in other comprehensive income
reduces the amount accumulated in equity under capital reserves. Any balance remaining in the revaluation reserve in
respect of an asset is transferred directly to retained earnings on retirement or disposal of the asset.

2.13.5

Subsequent cost
The subsequent cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within that part will flow to the Bank
and its cost can be reliably measured.
The costs of day to day servicing of property, plant and equipment are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income as incurred. Cost incurred in using or redeploying an item is not included under carrying amount of an item.

2.13.6

Derecognition
The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised on disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. The gain or loss arising from derecognition of an item of
property, plant and equipment is included in the statement of comprehensive income when the item is derecognised.

2.13.7

Depreciation
The Bank provides depreciation from the date the assets are available for use up to the date of disposal, at the following
rates on a straight line basis over the periods appropriate to the estimated useful lives based on the pattern in which the
asset’s future economic benefits are expected to be consumed by the Bank of the different types of assets. Depreciation
of an asset ceases at the earlier date that the asset is classified as held for sale or the date that the asset is derecognised.
Depreciation does not cease when the assets become idle or is retired from active use unless the asset is fully
depreciated.
Asset category
Building freehold
Building leasehold
Computer hardware
Furniture and fittings
Office equipment
Motor vehicles / vessels

2.13.8

Depreciation rate per annum
2.85% - 4%
25 years or lease term, whichever is shorter
10% - 33.33%
12.5% - 25%
25% - 33.33%
10% - 20%

Changes in estimates
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.
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2.13.9

Capital work in progress
Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost. These are expenses of a capital nature directly incurred in the construction of
buildings, major plant and machinery and system development, awaiting capitalisation.
Capital work-in-progress would be transferred to the relevant asset when it is available for use, i.e. when it is in the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management. Capital workin-progress is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

2.14

Intangible assets
An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, for rental to others or for administrative purposes.
Details of intangible assets are given in Note 22 to the financial statements.

2.14.1

Basis of recognition
An intangible asset is recognised if it is probable that the future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will
flow to the entity and the cost of the assets can be measured reliably. An intangible asset is initially measured at cost.

2.14.2

Computer software
Cost of purchased licenses and all computer software costs incurred, licensed for use by the Bank, which are not
integrally related to associated hardware, which can be clearly identified, reliably measured and it is probable that they
will lead to future economic benefits, are included in the statement of financial position under the category intangible
assets and carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

2.14.3

Subsequent expenditure
Expenditure incurred on software is capitalised only when it is probable that this expenditure will enable the asset to
generate future economic benefits in excess of its originally assessed standard of performance and this expenditure can be
measured and attributed to the asset reliably. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

2.14.4

Derecognition of intangible assets
The carrying amount of an item of intangible asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use. The gain or loss arising from de-recognition of an item of intangible asset is included in the
statement of comprehensive income when the item is derecognised.

2.14.5

Amortisation of intangible assets
Intangible assets, except for goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis in the statement of comprehensive income
from the date when the asset is available for use, over the best estimate of its useful economic life based on a pattern in
which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the Bank. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values
are reviewed at the end of each financial year and adjusted if appropriate. The Bank assume that there is no residual value
for its intangible assets.
Asset Category
Computer software

Useful life years
5 - 10 years
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2.15

Dividend payable
Provision for the final dividend is recognized at the time the dividend recommended and declared by the Board is
approved by the shareholders. Interim dividend payable is recognised when the Board approves such dividend in
accordance with the Companies Act No 10 of 1996 and Maldives Banking Act No 24 of 2010.
Dividends for the year that are declared after the reporting date are disclosed in Note 38 to the financial statements as an
event after the reporting period in accordance with the IAS 10 - Events after the reporting period.

2.16

Employee benefits

2.16.1

Staff provident fund
The Bank operates a staff provident fund. All local employees of the Bank who have subscribed to the fund are the
members of this fund to which the Bank contributes 3%. This contribution is recognised as an employee benefit expense
in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.16.2

Retirement pension scheme
The Bank commenced its retirement pension scheme for employees on 1 May 2011. This is based on the Regulation on
Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme published by the Government of Maldives. The Bank deducts 7% of pensionable
wages from its employees and matches this contribution. The amount of the Bank’s contribution is recognised as an
employee benefit expense in the statement of comprehensive income.

2.17

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and it
is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the
statement of comprehensive income net of any reimbursement.

2.18

Fiduciary activities
The Bank acts as trustees and in other fiduciary capacities that result in the holding or placing of assets on behalf of
individuals, trusts, retirement benefit plans and other institutions. Those assets that are held in a fiduciary capacity are not
included in these financial statements of the Bank.

2.18.1

Custodian account of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme (MRPS)
Pursuant to the agreement entered into with Maldives Pension Administration Office (MPAO), the administrator of the
MRPS, the Bank performs custodial and other services relating to the establishment and maintenance of contribution
collection and contribution holding accounts of MRPS, in which the Bank keeps the funds and, at the direction of MPAO
or a person authorised by MPAO, invests the funds in the designated financial instruments, in consideration for which
MPAO pays a fee to the Bank. The movement in the Contribution Holding Account held by the Bank on behalf of MPAO
has been separately disclosed in Note 27.
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2.19

Commitments and contingencies
Contingent liabilities are possible obligations whose existence will be confirmed only by uncertain future events or
present obligations where the transfer of economic benefits is not probable or cannot be reliably measured.
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent
liabilities. These consist of financial guarantees, letters of credit and other undrawn commitments to lend. Letters of
credit and guarantees commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally
related to the import or export of goods. Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry a similar credit risk to loans.
Operating lease commitments of the Bank (as a lessor and as a lessee) and pending legal claims against the Bank too
form part of commitments of the Bank. Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the statement of financial position but
are disclosed unless they are remote. But these contingent liabilities do contain credit risk and are therefore form part of
the overall risk of the Bank. All identifiable risks are accounted for in determining the amount of all known liabilities.
Details of commitments and contingencies are given in Note 32.4.10 to the financial statements.

2.19.1

Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit, guarantees and
acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements (within ‘other liabilities’) at fair
value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each guarantee is
measured at the higher of the amount initially recognised less cumulative amortization recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income, and the best estimate of expenditure required to settle any financial obligation arising as a result
of the guarantee.
Any increase in the liability relating to financial guarantees is recorded in the statement of comprehensive income as
‘impairment loss on loans and receivables’. The premium received is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income as ‘fees and commission income’.

2.19.2

Legal claims
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The Bank has
formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of
loss reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects which the claims may have on
its financial standing. There were no pending litigations against the Bank as at 31 December 2018 which would have a
material impact on the financial statements. Further details are provided under Note 36 to the financial statements.

2.20

Operational risk events
Provisions for operational risk events are recognised as losses incurred by the Bank which do not relate directly to
amounts of principal outstanding for loans and advances.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation as at
the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties that surround the events and circumstances that affect
the provision.
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2.21

Significant accounting policies – Recognition of income and expenses
Income is recognised to the extent that it is probable the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and can be reliably
measured, whereas the expense consists of the economic cost the Bank incurs through its operations to earn income. The
following specific recognition criteria must also be met before recognising income and expenses.

2.21.1

Interest income and interest expense
For all financial instruments measured at amortised cost and interest bearing financial assets classified as FVOCI, interest
income or expense is recorded using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. EIR is the rate that estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability.
The calculation of EIR takes into account all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for example, prepayment
options) and includes any fees or incremental costs that are directly attributable to the instrument and are an integral part
of the EIR, but not future credit losses.
The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of payments or
receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is calculated based on the original EIR and the change in carrying amount is
recorded ‘interest income’ for financial assets and ‘interest expense’ for financial liabilities.
However, for a reclassified financial asset for which the Bank subsequently increases its estimates of future cash receipts
as a result of increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment to
the EIR from the date of the change in estimate.
Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an impairment
loss, interest income continues to be recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the
purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.21.2

Fee and commission income
The Bank earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income can
be divided into the following two categories.

2.21.2.1 Fee income earned from services that are provided over a certain period of time
Fees earned for the provision of services over a period of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
professional fees, trade service fees, commission income and asset management fees, loan commitment fees for loans that
are likely to be drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred (together with any incremental costs) and
recognised as an adjustment to the EIR on the loan. When it is unlikely that a loan will be drawn down, the loan
commitment fees are recognised over the commitment period on a straight line basis.
2.21.2.2 Fee income from providing transaction services
Fees arising from negotiating or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party, such as the arrangement
of the acquisition of shares or other securities or the purchase or sale of businesses, are recognised on completion of the
underlying transaction. Fees or components of fees that are linked to a certain performance are recognised after fulfilling
the corresponding criteria.
2.21.3

Fee and commission expenses
Fee and commission expenses relate mainly to transaction and services fees, which are expensed as the services are
received. Fee and commission expenses are recognised on accrual basis.
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2.21.4

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis when the Bank’s right to receive the dividend is
established. This is usually on the ex-dividend date for equity securities. Dividend income is presented in Note 6 ‘other
operating income’ in the financial statements.

2.21.5

Profit / (loss) from sale of property, plant and equipment
Profit / (loss) from sale of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the period in which the sale occurs and is
classified as other operating income.

2.22

Tax expense
In accordance with IAS 12 - Income taxes, tax expense is the aggregate amount included in determination of profit or loss
for the period in respect of current and deferred taxation. Income tax expense is recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income except to the extent it relates to items recognised directly in ‘equity’ or ‘other comprehensive
income (OCI)’, in which case it is recognised in equity or in OCI.

2.22.1

Current tax
Provision for taxation is made on the basis of the profit for the year as adjusted for taxation purposes in accordance with
provisions of the prevailing Bank Profit Tax regulations issued by Ministry of Finance and Treasury, Republic of
Maldives.

2.22.2

Deferred tax
Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences using the liability method providing for temporary differences
between the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes. Provision is made for deferred
taxation only to the extent that the temporary differences would reverse in the foreseeable future.
A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the temporary difference can be utilised.
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2.23

Accounting standards adopted for the first time

2.23.1

IFRS 9 Financial instruments
Introduction
In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 Financial instruments, the standard which replaced IAS 39 Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement with effect from 1 January 2018. In 2018, Bank successfully implemented the work related
to the classification, measurement and impairment of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities, together with related
disclosure requirements.
Classification and measurement
From a classification and measurement perspective, the new standard requires all financial assets, except equity
instruments and derivatives, to be assessed based on a combination of the Bank’s business model for managing the assets
and the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics. The IAS 39 measurement categories were replaced by fair
value through profit or loss (FVPL), fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI), and amortised cost. Equity
instruments that were not held for trading are irrevocably designated as FVOCI, with no subsequent reclassification of
gains or losses to the statement of comprehensive income.
The accounting for financial liabilities is largely the same as the requirements of IAS 39, except for the treatment of gains
or losses arising from the Bank’s own credit risk relating to liabilities designated at FVPL. Such movements are presented
in OCI with no subsequent reclassification to the income statement, unless an accounting mismatch in profit or loss
would arise. The Bank concludes that:
•

•
•
•

The majority of loans and advances to banks and customers, cash collateral for reverse repo agreements and cash
settlement balances with clearing houses that were classified as loans and receivables under IAS 39 are measured at
amortised cost under IFRS 9.
Financial assets and liabilities held for trading and designated at FVPL continue to be measured at FVPL.
The majority of the debt and equity securities that were classified as available for sale under IAS 39 are measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI.
Debt securities that were classified as held to maturity continue to be measured at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets
Overview
IFRS 9 has fundamentally changed the impairment methodology of loans and receivables. The standard replaced IAS 39’s
incurred loss approach with a forward-looking expected loss (ECL) approach. The Bank is required to record an
allowance for expected losses for all loans and other debt financial assets not held at FVPL, together with loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts. This allowance is based on the expected credit losses associated with the
probability of default for the next twelve months, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
origination, in which case the allowance is based on the probability of default over the life of the asset.
The Bank performs an assessment at the end of each reporting period to determine whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition. This is done by considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the
remaining life of the financial instrument.
To calculate ECL, the Bank estimated the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument during its expected life.
ECLs are estimated based on the present value of all cash shortfalls over the remaining expected life of the financial asset,
i.e. the difference between:
•
•

The contractual cash flows that are due to the Bank under the contract, and
The cash flows that the Bank expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate of the loan.
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In comparison to IAS 39, the Bank has experienced an increase in total impairment allowances for IFRS 9.
The Bank classifies its financial instruments as Stage 1, Stage 2 and Stage 3, based on the applied impairment
methodology, as described below:
•
•
•

Stage 1 – Performing loans: when loans are first recognised, the Bank recognises an allowance based on 12-month
expected credit losses.
Stage 2 – Underperforming loans: when a loan shows a significant increase in credit risk, the Bank records an
allowance for the lifetime expected credit loss.
Stage 3 – Credit impaired loans: the Bank recognises the lifetime expected credit losses for these loans. In addition,
in Stage 3 the Bank accrues interest income on the amortised cost of the loan net of allowances.

The Bank records impairment for FVOCI debt securities, depending on whether they are classified as Stage 1, 2, or 3, as
explained above. However, the Bank does not reduce the expected credit losses from the carrying amount of these
financial assets in the statement of financial position, which will remain at fair value. Instead, an amount equal to the
allowance that would arise if the asset were measured at amortised cost is recognised in OCI as an accumulated
impairment amount, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss.
Comparison of IFRS 9 to IAS 39
Stage 01
Under IAS 39 the Bank had been recording an allowance for Incurred But Not Identified (IBNI) impairment losses. These
were designed to reflect impairment losses that had been incurred in the performing portfolio but have not been
identified. Under IFRS 9, the impairment of financial assets that are not considered to have suffered a significant
increase in their credit risk will be measured on a 12-month ECL basis.
Stage 02
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified in Stage 2 when their credit risk has increased significantly since their
initial recognition. For these assets, a loss allowance needs to be recognised based on their lifetime ECLs. Since this is a
new concept compared to IAS 39, it might result in increased impairment allowance as most such assets are not
considered to be credit-impaired under IAS 39.
Stage 03
Financial assets are included in Stage 3 when there is objective evidence that the loan is credit impaired. Loans in Stage 3
are not expected to be significantly different from IAS 39 calculations on individual impairment. However, collateral
values are adjusted to reflect the amounts that can be expected to be realised.
Forward looking information
The Bank incorporated forward-looking information into the measurement of ECLs (refer Note 32.4.3.4).
Limitation of estimation techniques
The models applied by the Bank may not always capture all characteristics of the market at a point in time as they cannot
be recalibrated at the same pace as changes in market conditions. Although the Bank will use data that is as current as
possible, models used to calculate ECLs will be based on data that is one month in arrears and adjustments will be made
for significant events that occur prior to the reporting date.
Capital management
The Bank has factored the additional impairment provision required under IFRS 9 into its 2018 budget. The additional
provision requirement does not have a significant impact on the Bank's capital ratios.
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2.23.2

IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 is effective from 1 January 2018. This standard deﬁnes principles for recognising revenue and are applicable to
all contracts with customers. However, interest and fee income integral to ﬁnancial instruments continue to fall outside
the scope of IFRS 15 and are regulated by the other applicable standards (e.g. IFRS 9, IFRS 16).
IFRS 15 establishes a ﬁve-step model to account for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Revenue under IFRS
15 requires to be recognised as goods and services are transferred, to the extent that the transferor anticipates entitlement
to payments. The standard also specify a comprehensive set of disclosure requirements regarding the nature, extent and
timing as well as any uncertainty of revenue and corresponding cash ﬂows from customers.
An evaluation of relevant existing contracts, which fall mainly under fee and commission based income, had been
performed by the Bank in relation to the adoption of IFRS 15. This assessment did not reveal any signiﬁcant change to
the Bank’s revenue recognition pattern. However, the Bank continues to evaluate and quantify the accounting impact and
will modify its systems and processes if necessary.

2.24

Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
The accounting standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the
Bank’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Bank intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they
become effective.

2.24.1

IFRS 16 Leases
The IASB issued the new standard for accounting for leases, IFRS 16, in January 2016. The new standard does not
significantly change the accounting treatment for lessors. However, it does require lessees to recognise most leases on
their balance sheet as lease liabilities, with the corresponding right-of-use assets. Lessees must apply a single model for
all recognised leases, but will have the option not to recognise ‘short-term’ leases and leases of ‘low-value’ assets.
Generally, the profit or loss recognition pattern for recognised leases will be similar to today’s finance lease accounting,
with interest and depreciation expenses recognised separately in the statement of comprehensive income.
IFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted provided the
new revenue standard, IFRS 15, is applied on the same date. Lessees must adopt IFRS 16 using either a full retrospective
or a modified retrospective approach.
The Bank has not adopted IFRS 16 and is currently evaluating its impact. The Bank does not expect to have a material
impact with this regard.

-32-

89

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)

3

Net interest income

2018

Interest income
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Assigned capital and reserve deposits
Less: interest expense

35,814
1,367,123
207,567
8,088
1,618,592

27,310
1,183,416
190,263
7,677
1,408,666

85,557
56,843
142,400

68,502
23,826
92,328

1,476,192

1,316,338

Due to customers
Term debts and other borrowed funds

Net interest income
3.1

2017

Net interest income from Government of Maldives Securities and related financial
instruments
Interest income
Net interest income

2018
198,511
198,511

2017
173,913
173,913

The net income from Government of Maldives Securities includes interest income from treasury bills.
4

Net fee and commission income

2018

Cards operation
Pay orders
Loans
Administration fees on development funds
Miscellaneous income on branch operations
Trade services
Custodian services fee
Others.

Fee and commission expense - Card operation
Net fee and commission income
5

Net foreign exchange income

624,301
51,478
35,509
11,286
62,829
10,314
6,000
6,285
808,002

566,647
44,774
63,157
37,329
54,975
9,957
7,677
4,301
788,818

(291,800)

(261,759)

516,202

527,059

2018

Net foreign exchange income

2017

56,582
56,582

2017
68,686
68,686

Net foreign exchange income has mainly derived from card operations, sale and purchase of foreign currencies and through
revaluation of foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at each reporting date.
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6

Other operating income (Net)

2018

Recoveries of writing off loan and receivables
Dividend income
Non-Performing
Others
Advances

7

21,937
22
11,383
33,342

Impairment of loans and other credit losses

2018

Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Other receivables

8

(28,117)
85
5,780
(22,252)

Personnel expenses

2018

Salaries, wages and other related expenses
Defined contribution plan expense - 7% contribution to Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
Defined contribution plan expense - 3% to Employee Provident Fund

9

Other operating expenses

255,977
9,813
3,006
268,796

2018

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 21.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 22)
Administration and establishment expenses
Software license fees and hardware maintenance expenses
Communication expenses
Operating lease rental
Advertising and promotional expenses
Travel and transport expenses
Directors' emoluments
Auditors' remuneration
Professional and legal expenses
Donation
Consultancy fees
Other expenses

49,396
11,359
40,921
33,108
15,593
23,215
17,869
20,097
2,240
1,390
1,507
3,215
7,584
6,381
233,875

2017
15,606
1,210
10,195
27,011
2017
41,657
2,567
44,224

2017
242,035
9,439
2,822
254,296

2017
45,595
11,170
44,118
32,007
17,978
18,329
17,686
14,647
1,819
1,496
1,254
1,521
7,461
9,061
224,142
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10

Income tax expense
The major components of the Bank's income tax expense are as follows.

2018

Bank profit tax
Bank profit tax charge (Note 10.1)
Adjustment in respect of bank profit tax of prior years
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (Note 10.3)
Income tax expense reported in the statement of comprehensive income

2017

315,306
-

310,631
388

187,833
503,139

67,231
378,250

10.1 Reconciliation of the bank profit tax expenses
A reconciliation between the bank profit tax expense and the accounting profit is as follows.

Accounting profit before tax
Add:- Non deductible expenses
Less:- Deductible expenses
Taxable income
Bank profit tax charge

2018

2017

1,601,899
41,467
(382,143)
1,261,223

1,416,431
343,480
(517,388)
1,242,524

315,306

310,631

Effective tax rate (Excluding deferred tax)

20%

22%

Effective tax rate (Including deferred tax)

31%

27%

2018

2017

310,644
315,306
(310,569)
315,381

317,221
310,631
388
(317,596)
310,644

10.2 Bank profit tax liability

At 1 January
Bank profit tax charge for the year
Adjustment in respect of prior year
Tax paid during the year
As at 31 December
10.3 Deferred tax

The following table shows deferred tax liabilities recorded on the statement of financial position and changes recorded in the
statement of comprehensive income and other comprehensive income net of tax.

Deferred tax assets(liabilities)
/
As at 1 January 2017
Other comprehensive income net of tax
Statement of comprehensive income
As at 31 December 2017
Changes on application of IFRS 9
As at 1 January 2018
Other comprehensive income net of tax
Statement of changes in equity
Statement of comprehensive income
As at 31 December 2018

Property, plant
and equipment

Provision of
loans and
receivables

(29,437)
(10,232)
(39,669)
(39,669)
(3,968)
(43,637)

117,812
(56,999)
60,813
198,834
259,647
(183,866)
75,781
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Net gains on remeasuring of
Revaluation of FVOCI equity
bank premises
investments
(8,427)
(4,773)
(13,201)
(13,201)
880
(12,320)

(21,059)
(9,732)
(30,791)
(30,791)
(5,261)
(36,052)

Total
58,889
(14,505)
(67,231)
(22,848)
198,834
175,986
(5,261)
880
(187,833)
(16,228)
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11

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Bank by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would
be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. As there were no potential ordinary
equity outstanding at year end, diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings per share for the year.
The profit and ordinary share details used in the basic/diluted earnings per share calculations are given below.
2018
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
Basic/diluted earnings per share (MVR)

1,098,760
5,381,920
204

2017
1,038,181
5,381,920
193

There were no transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of the
completion of these financial statements which would require the restatement of earnings per share.
12

Dividends per share

2018

12.1 Declared and paid during the year
First and final dividend of MVR 22 per share for 2017 was paid in 2018 (First and final
dividend for 2016: MVR 20 per share)

118,402

2017

107,638

12.2 Proposed for approval at the annual general meeting (not recognised as a liability as at 31 December)
First and final dividend for 2018: MVR 24 per share (2017: MVR 22 per share)
13

Cash and cash equivalents

2018

Cash in hand (Note 34.1)
Balances with other banks
14

129,166

854,441
477,851
1,332,292

Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority

2018

Statutory deposit for Conventional banking
Statutory deposit for Islamic banking

1,708,406
135,010
1,843,416

118,402

2017
670,045
652,808
1,322,853
2017
1,787,440
126,055
1,913,495
`

MMA regulations on minimum reserve require commercial banks to maintain a reserve of 10% of demand deposits and time
deposits (excluding interbank deposits of other banks in Maldives and letter of credit margin deposits), for both foreign and
local currency. These deposits are not available for the Bank’s day-to-day operations. Rufiyaa deposits carry an interest rate of
1% per annum and foreign currency deposits carry an interest rate of 0.01% per annum on balances equal to or below the
minimum reserve requirement. Further the Bank maintains a separate reserve of 10% of demand and time deposits for its
Islamic banking operations, and no interest income is earned on these balances.
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15

Placements with banks

2018

Placements with banks
Less: Total impairment for placement with banks (Note 18)
Net placements with banks
16

1,900,078
(285)
1,899,793

16.1 Product wise analysis

Commercial term loans
Overdrafts
Lui loans
Islamic financing facilities
Credit cards
Development banking loans
Trade finance
Staff loans

2018

2017

13,158,972
(960,068)
12,198,904

12,552,368
(331,309)
12,221,060

2018

2017

9,533,747
1,224,619
1,163,067
627,327
412,061
49,596
23,726
124,829
13,158,972

16.2 Currency wise analysis

2018

Maldivian Rufiyaa
United States Dollar
Euro

Financial assets at amortized cost
Debt instruments:
Government of Maldives treasury bills
Corporate bonds
Wakala investments
Less: Total impairment for financial assets at amortized cost (Note 18)
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1,750,216
1,750,216

Loans and receivables to customers

Gross loans and receivables
Less: Total impairment for loans and receivables to customers (Note 18)
Net loans and receivables

17

2017

9,601,308
1,207,605
1,034,609
171,728
343,285
57,418
24,616
111,799
12,552,368

2017

8,096,611
5,060,895
1,466

7,712,745
4,813,154
26,470

13,158,972

12,552,368

2018
4,655,341
124,767
17,188
(720)
4,796,577

2017
4,217,316
147,321
17,188
4,381,825
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18

Movement in provision for impairment losses

2018
Loans and
Placements receivables
with banks to customers

As at 1 January
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9
Restated opening balance
Net charge to profit or loss
Loans written-off during the year
uncollectible
As at 31 December
19

as

263
263
22

331,309
895,876
1,227,185
(28,117)

2017
Financial
assets at
amortized
cost
657
657
62

-

(239,001)

-

285

960,068

720

Financial assets at FVOCI

Visa Incorporated
MasterCard Incorporated

19.2

835,473
835,473
41,657

(239,001)

(545,821)

961,072

331,309

144,207
319
144,526

Equities - quoted
No. of
shares

2018
Per share
price (US$)

60,120
8,210

131.94
188.65

Equities - unquoted

Amount
(MVR)

No. of
shares

2017
Per share
price (US$)

120,649
23,557
144,207

60,120
8,210

114.02
151.36

2018
No. of
shares

Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication
(SWIFT)

6

Amount
319

Total

331,309
896,796
1,228,105
(28,032)

2018

Equity instruments:
Equities - quoted (Note 19.1)
Equities - unquoted (Note 19.2)

19.1

Total

2017
No. of
shares
6

319

2017
123,164
319
123,483

Amount
(MVR)
104,263
18,901
123,164

Amount
319
319

All unquoted FVOCI equities are recorded at cost since their fair value cannot be reliably estimated. There is no market for
these investments and the Bank intends to hold these for the long term.
20

Investment in subsidiaries
2018
Cost

Non-quoted
Gaaf Alif Mahadhdhoo Private Limited
Total non-quoted investments in subsidiaries

-

Directors'
valuation
-

2017
Cost
10
10

Directors'
valuation
10
10

The liquidation process was concluded during the year for the subsidiary Gaaf Alif Mahadhdhoo Private Limited.
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21

Property, plant and equipment

21.1

Cost/fair value

Land
As at 1 January 2017
Revaluation adjustment on
accumulated depreciation
Revaluation surplus
Additions at cost
Disposals/written-off
As at 31 December 2017
Additions at cost
Disposals/written-off
As at 31 December 2018
21.2

Total cost/fair value 2017
Total cost/fair value 2018

102,564

17,602

-

(23,884)

-

26,235
82,469
82,469

21,200
6,672
106,553
8,176
114,729

6,876
24,478
2,065
(10)
26,533

43,524
(18,737)
184,292
28,133
(6,580)
205,845

3,518
21,093
(23,673)
938
17,567
(13,601)
4,904

4,418
68,236
(72,652)
2
45,084
(45,073)
13

-

84,912

32,941

11,175

464,934

-

-

-

(23,884)

7,544
(23)
92,433
11,427
(383)
103,477

8,571
(17)
41,495
5,787
(288)
46,994

(2,252)
8,923
2,014
(40)
10,897

47,435
73,187
(21,029)
540,643
57,603
(7,301)
590,945

-

6,131
(3,246)
2,885
193
(3,078)
-

4,655
(4,655)
2,396
(2,396)
-

3
6,944
(6,947)
6,614
(6,607)
7

2,014
(2,014)
-

7,940
107,059
(111,173)
3,826
73,867
(72,770)
4,924

82,469
82,469

109,438
114,729

25,416
31,437

184,294
205,858

92,433
103,477

41,495
47,001

8,923
10,897

544,469
595,869

-

18,907

7,721

106,828

46,202

18,934

8,286

206,877

-

(23,884)

-

-

-

-

(23,884)

-

5,999
1,022
5,018
6,040

2,099
9,820
2,214
(1)
12,033

20,494
(18,720)
108,602
21,786
(6,580)
123,808

10,301
(23)
56,480
11,816
(381)
67,915

6,051
(17)
24,968
7,685
(288)
32,364

651
(2,252)
6,685
877
(39)
7,522

45,595
(21,012)
207,576
49,396
(7,289)
249,683

15,597
19,404

75,693
82,050

35,954
35,562

16,527
14,637

2,238
3,375

336,894
346,186

-

Net book value
As at 31 December 2017
As at 31 December 2018

82,469
82,469

108,416
108,689

21.5

Property, plant and equipment as at the reporting date include fully depreciated assets amounting to MVR 129,024,291/- (2017: MVR
113,112,544/-).

21.6

There were no restrictions on the title of property, plant and equipment as at the statement of financial position date. Further, there were no
items of property, plant and equipment pledged as securities against liabilities as at the statement of financial position date.
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159,506

Total

Depreciation and impairment
As at 1 January 2017
Revaluation adjustment on
accumulated depreciation
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals/written-off
As at 31 December 2017
Depreciation charge for the year
Disposals/written-off
As at 31 December 2018

21.4

56,234

Motor
vehicles

In the course of construction
As at 1 January 2017
Additions at cost
Transfers at cost
As at 31 December 2017
Additions at cost
Transfers at cost
As at 31 December 2018

21.3

Buildings

Buildings
Furniture
on
Office
and
leasehold Computer
land hardware
fittings equipment

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018
(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)

21.7

Information on freehold land and buildings of the Bank - Extents and locations

Location
Head office
Gan branch
Naifaru branch
Kulhudhuffushi branch
Fonadhoo branch
Hithadhoo branch
Muli branch
Thinadhoo branch
Fuahmulaku branch
GA. Vilingili branch
Dhidhoo branch
Vilimale branch
Hulhumeedhoo branch
Manadhoo branch
Nilandhoo branch
Felidhoo branch
Holhudhoo branch
Velidhoo branch
Ihavandhoo branch
L. Gan branch
Guraidhoo branch
Hoarafushi branch
Hinnavaru ATM booth
Kolamafushi ATM booth
Gemanafushi ATM booth
Faresmathoda ATM booth
Dhuvaafaru ATM booth
Kulhudhuffushi branch
ATM
Milandhoo ATM booth
Olympus ATM booth
Eydhafushi branch
Meedhoo branch
Kaashidhoo branch
Thulusdhoo ATM booth
Vilimale ATM booth
Main branch
In course of construction

Land
Cost /
Cost /
Net book
Net book
extent valuation of valuation of
Accumulated
value
value
sq.ft
land
building Total value depreciation 31 Dec 2018 31 Dec 2017
3,080
7,500
4,934
11,608
8,980
10,481
5,311
8,000
6,058
10,000
5,684
2,906
10,000
12,192
7,584
3,617
1,603
468
3,000
572
2,029
1,636
300
1,050
300
300
132
208
286
90
3,824
1,904
1,200
2,000
217
3,080
-

36,960
2,250
1,480
3,482
2,694
3,144
1,593
2,400
1,817
3,000
1,705
8,718
3,000
3,658
2,275
1,085
481
140
900
609
491
90
315
90
90
-

41,780
3,110
1,900
1,868
2,016
5,606
2,097
5,020
4,783
5,136
2,855
8,702
5,020
3,032
2,265
1,435
1,439
760
1,250
790
781
1,219
490
215
490
490
73

78,740
5,360
3,380
5,350
4,710
8,750
3,690
7,420
6,600
8,136
4,560
17,420
8,020
6,690
4,540
2,520
1,920
900
2,150
790
1,390
1,710
580
530
580
580
73

2,263
365
103
156
87
304
114
218
173
220
155
377
272
164
123
52
78
41
45
27
51
53
18
8
21
18
8

76,477
4,995
3,277
5,194
4,623
8,446
3,576
7,202
6,427
7,916
4,405
17,043
7,748
6,526
4,417
2,468
1,842
859
2,105
763
1,339
1,657
562
522
559
562
65

78,566
5,120
3,372
5,247
4,703
8,727
3,681
7,403
6,587
8,003
4,548
17,391
7,999
6,677
4,531
2,516
1,914
897
2,147
790
1,365
1,706
579
530
580
580
69

375

375

86

289

308

142
566
4,084
1,028
1,272
477
499
1,665
114,729

142
566
4,084
1,028
1,272
477
499
1,665
197,198

6
59
55
2
1
4
13
302
6,040

136
507
4,028
1,026
1,271
473
486
1,363
191,158

82,469

141
1,324
2,885
190,885

21.7.1 The Bank has been awarded land area for free to build banking premises and carry operations. Such lands are presented at zero
cost in the above table.
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21.8

Information on valuation of freehold land and buildings of the Bank
The Bank revalued its premises as at 31 December 2017 and the valuation was performed by Gedor Consulting Pvt. Ltd, Professional
Valuers. The valuation was based on either of the depreciated replacement cost or the market comparable method. The following
parameters were applied in arriving at fair value:
• Land - Price per square foot
• Building - Construction rate for building

Location
Head office
Gan branch
Naifaru branch
Kulhudhuffushi branch
Fonadhoo branch
Hithadhoo branch
Muli branch
Thinadhoo branch
Fuahmulaku branch
GA. Vilingili branch
Dhidhoo branch
Vilimale branch
Hulhumeedhoo branch
Manadhoo branch
Nilandhoo branch
Felidhoo branch
Holhudhoo branch
Velidhoo branch
Ihavandhoo branch
L. Gan branch
Guraidhoo branch
Hoarafushi branch
Hinnavaru ATM booth
Kolamafushi ATM booth
Gemanafushi ATM booth
Faresmathoda ATM booth

Range of
estimates
12,000.00 p.sq.ft
27,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
3,000.00 p.sq.ft
13,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
14,000.00
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft
300.00 p.sq.ft

Net book value before
revaluation of
Land

Building

Land

Building

Revaluation gain / (loss)
recognised on
Land

Building

26,180

32,412

36,960

41,780

10,780

9,368

1,875

3,024

2,250

3,110

375

86

1,750

1,519

1,480

1,900

(270)

381

2,902

1,660

3,482

1,868

580

207

2,236

1,728

2,694

2,016

458

288

2,620

4,905

3,144

5,606

524

700

1,328

1,738

1,593

2,097

266

358

2,000

3,951

2,400

5,020

400

1,069

1,515

3,788

1,817

4,783

303

995

2,500

3,951

3,000

5,020

500

1,069

1,421

2,051

1,705

2,855

284

804

4,359

6,365

8,718

8,702

4,359

2,337

2,500

4,016

3,000

5,020

500

1,004

3,048

2,704

3,658

3,032

610

329

56,234

2,065
1,230
1,091
628
914
574
457
1,045
481
221
271
443
83,231

2,275
1,085
481
140
900
609
491
90
315
90
90
82,469

2,265
1,435
1,439
760
1,250
790
781
1,219
490
215
490
490
104,431

2,275
1,085
481
140
900
609
491
90
315
90
90
26,235
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Revalued amount of

200
204
348
131
336
216
324
175
9
(6)
219
47
21,200
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22

Intangible assets
Computer software
Cost

2018

As at 1 January
Additions
As at 31 December

138,699
2,507
141,206

2017
134,370
4,329
138,699

In the course of construction
As at 1 January
Additions at cost
Transfers at cost
As at 31 December

1,247
32,229
(31,676)
1,800

17
6,986
(5,755)
1,247

Total cost as at 31 December

143,006

139,946

As at 1 January
Amortisation charge for the year (Note 9)
As at 31 December

67,857
11,359
79,216

56,687
11,170
67,857

Net book value
As at 31 December

63,790

72,089

Amortisation and impairment

22.1

Nature and amortisation method
Intangible assets represent acquisition of computer software from third parties and are amortised over the estimated useful
life of 5 - 10 years on a straight line basis.

22.2

Intangible assets as at the reporting date include fully amortised assets amounting to MVR 26,832,314/- (2017: MVR 26,736,040/-).

23

Other assets
Deposits and prepayments
Card and other receivables
Un-amortised cost on staff loans
Less : Provision for other losses (Note 23.1)

23.1

Provision for other losses
Provision as at 1 January
Provision made /(reversed) during the year
Written-off during the year as uncollectible
Provision as at 31 December

2018

2017

258,515
85,958
14,508
358,981
(11,362)
347,619

222,235
16,215
12,699
251,150
(8,108)
243,042

2018

2017

8,108
5,780
(2,526)
11,362

48,548
2,568
(43,008)
8,108
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24

Due to customers

2018

Total amount due to customers

15,257,418
15,257,418

24.1 Product wise analysis

2017
15,186,717
15,186,717

2018

Demand deposits
Saving deposits
Time deposits
Wadi’ah deposits of BML Islamic
Margins on letters of credit
Margins on bank guarantee

8,001,551
5,607,041
1,131,029
474,800
28,633
14,364
15,257,418

2017
8,870,433
5,291,650
624,477
334,329
25,059
40,769
15,186,717

24.2 Currency wise analysis
2018
Maldivian Rufiyaa
United States Dollar
Euro
Singapore Dollar

25

8,842,962
6,393,491
20,877
88
15,257,418

Term debt and other borrowed funds
Borrowings from Government of Maldives:
International Fund for Agricultural Development (IFAD) credit line
European Investment Bank (EIB) credit line
Asian Development Bank (ADB) credit line
Islamic Development Bank (IDB) credit line
Borrowings from commercial banks abroad

2017
9,265,841
5,896,577
24,299
15,186,717

2018

2017

7,919
46,985
43,786
24,546

11,045
96,255
47,572
26,979

798,525
921,761

611,751
793,602

25.1 Borrowings from Government of Maldives
The Bank received funds from the above institutions through on-lending agreements with the Government of Maldives.
25.2 Borrowings from commercial banks abroad
Borrowings from commercial banks were obtained from time to time to manage short term liquidity requirements in the normal
course of business. The Bank has pledged part of its United States Dollar (USD) loan book as security against a term borrowing
from an international bank at a loan to value ratio of 140%. The outstanding balance of this borrowing was USD 17.5 million as
at 31 December 2018.
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25.3

Maturity of Borrowings

Not later than
1 year

Later than 1
year and not
later than 5
years

2,978

4,941

-

EIB Credit Line

40,221

6,765

-

ADB Credit Line
IDB Credit Line

6,419
2,134

27,453
10,847

9,913
11,566

501,930

296,594

-

553,682

346,600

21,479

Lender
Borrowings under Government
of Maldives:
IFAD Credit Line

Borrowings from commercial
banks abroad

26

Other liabilities

4.0%
(LIBOR +
0.099%) + 0.5%
3.0%
4.0%
USD 6 months
LIBOR +
(3.75%-3.80%)

Currency

SDR / USD
USD / EURO
SDR / USD
MVR
USD

2017

218,568
196,423
128,442
47,429
1,471
592,333

154,270
188,660
121,936
14,857
7,126
486,849

Defined contribution plan obligations
Movement of the defined contribution plan obligations are as follows:
Balance as at 1 January
Contribution made during the year
Interest for the year
Benefits paid during the year
Balance as at 31 December

27

Weighted
average rate of
interest

2018

Development fund
Sundry creditors
Defined contribution plan - 3% to Employee Provident Fund (Note 26.1)
Accrued expenses
Cashier's cheques

26.1

Later than 5
years

Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme

As at 1 January
Collection from beneficiaries
Disbursement to beneficiaries towards payment of pension
Investment in financial instrument
Proceed received on maturity of investments
Administration fee charge by MPAO to beneficiaries
As at 31 December

2018

2017

121,936
6,013
5,682
(5,189)
128,442

117,682
5,643
5,439
(6,828)
121,936

2018

2017

16,189
1,133,002
(58,465)
(4,829,904)
3,810,860
(48,877)
22,805

33,113
1,075,459
(54,585)
(5,400,316)
4,415,669
(53,151)
16,189

Pursuant to the agreement entered into with Maldives Pension Administration Office (MPAO), the administrator of
Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme (MRPS), the Bank has performed custodial and other services relating to the
establishment and maintenance of contribution collection and contribution holding accounts of MRPS since 16 May 2010.
The Bank keeps the funds and, at the direction of MPAO or a person authorised by MPAO, invests the funds in designated
financial instruments. The last renewal of the agreement between MPAO and the Bank was on 1 July 2017 effective until 30
June 2020.
MPAO paid a fee of MVR 6,000,000/- (2017: MVR 7,677,415/-) to the Bank for these custodian services in 2018.
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28

Share capital

No. of shares
As at 1 January 2018
As at 31 December 2018
29

5,381,920
5,381,920

Ordinary
share
capital
269,096
269,096

Share Total share
premium
capital
93,000
93,000

362,096
362,096

Other reserves
Statutory
reserve
As at 1 January 2017
Transferred during the year 2017
As at 31 December 2017
Transferred during the year 2018
As at 31 December 2018

150,000
150,000
150,000

Assigned
capital
reserve
6,000
6,000
6,000

General
reserve
2,168,564
976,430
3,144,994
854,220
3,999,214

Revaluation
reserve
84,131
37,939
122,070
(2,640)
119,430

FVOCI
reserve
63,178
29,196
92,374
15,782
108,156

Reserve for
loan loss
provision
627,680
(21,439)
606,241
(606,241)
-

Total
3,099,553
1,022,126
4,121,680
261,120
4,382,800

(a) Statutory reserve
The Bank complied with the requirement of The Banking Act of Maldives to maintain a minimum paid-up capital of not less than
MVR 150 million.
(b) Assigned capital reserve
In accordance with the loan agreement entered into in 1995 between the Bank and the Government of Maldives on the Atolls Credit
and Development Banking Project, an assigned capital reserve of MVR 6 million was created.
(c) General reserve
General reserve represents the amounts set aside from the Bank’s profits to meet future (known or unknown) obligations. The
general reserve may not be used to declare dividends.
(d) Revaluation reserve
Revaluation reserve represents the difference between the initial acquisition cost and fair value of land and buildings.
(e) FVOCI reserve
Net gains on re-measuring of FVOCI financial assets is recognised as a reserve to the statement of changes in equity.
(f) Reserve for loan loss provision
The excess of provision for loan losses as per MMA Prudential Regulation 2015/R-168 over the impairment provision loss as per
IFRS 9 is maintained in a separate reserve in the statement of changes in equity. As of the date of statement of financial position,
impairment provision as per IFRS 9 was higher than loan loss provision as per MMA Prudential Regulation 2015/R-168 and
therefore the reserve for loan loss provisions balance is zero. The amount of reserve created earlier has been transferred to retained
earnings.
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29.1

Movement in reserve for loan loss provision
The movement in reserve for loan loss provision arises due to differences in impairment amounts provided between IFRS 9
and MMA provision base (MMA Prudential Regulation 2015/R-168: Regulation on Asset Classification, Provisioning and
Suspension of Interest).
The reserve was established on 1 January 2015 and the movement in balances is as follows.

Provision for impairment of loans and receivables
As at 1 January 2017
Impairment movement during 2017
As at 31 December 2017
Changes on initial application of IFRS 9
Restated balance at 1 January 2018
Impairment movement during 2018
As at 31 December 2018
29.2

1,501,341
(553,007)
948,334
948,334
(142,770)
805,564

910,258
(531,567)
378,691
849,414
1,228,105
(267,033)
961,072

591,083
(21,439)
569,643
(569,643)
-

(i) Specific provision
As at 1 January
Provision made during the year
Provision reversed during the year
Loans written-off during the year as uncollectible
As at 31 December

2018

2017

420,998
227,484
(63,420)
(121,693)
463,369

741,279
130,154
(241,465)
(208,970)
420,998

(ii) General provision
As at 1 January
Provision made during the year
Provision reversed during the year
Loans written-off during the year as uncollectible
As at 31 December

301,840
81,094
(205,495)
177,439

350,699
218,492
(86,963)
(180,388)
301,840

640,807

722,838

Movement in interest in suspense

As at 1 January
Amount suspended during the year
Amount reversed during the year
Loans written-off during the year as uncollectible
As at 31 December
29.4

IFRS

Movement in provision for loan losses as per MMA Prudential Regulation guidelines;

Total provision
29.3

MMA

Reserve for
loan loss
provision

2018

2017

225,496
64,676
(8,108)
(117,308)
164,757

409,363
113,534
(54,251)
(243,150)
225,496

Total equity
Total equity of the Bank excluding Reserve for loan loss provision (Note 29.1) as at December 31, 2018 was MVR
5,847,176,971/- (2017: MVR 4,941,876,186/-).
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30

Analysis of financial assets and liabilities by measurement basis
Financial assets and financial liabilities are measured on an ongoing basis at either fair value or amortized cost. The summary
of significant accounting policies in Note 2.9 describes how the classes of financial instruments are measured and how the
related income and expenses, including fair value gains and losses, are recognised. The following table provides details of the
carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities by category as defined in IFRS 9 Financial instruments in the statement of
financial position.
As at 31 December 2018

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
Amortized cost
(FVOCI)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total financial assets

1,332,292
1,843,416
1,899,793
12,198,904
4,796,577
22,070,983

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
Total financial liabilities

15,257,418
921,761
22,805
16,201,984

As at 31 December 2017

-

Fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
Amortized cost
(FVOCI)

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total financial assets

1,322,853
1,913,495
1,750,216
12,221,060
4,381,825
21,589,449

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
Total financial liabilities

15,186,717
793,602
16,189
15,996,508
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144,526
144,526

123,483
123,483

-

Total
1,332,292
1,843,416
1,899,793
12,198,904
4,796,577
144,526
22,215,509

15,257,418
921,761
22,805
16,201,984

Total
1,322,853
1,913,495
1,750,216
12,221,060
4,381,825
123,483
21,712,932

15,186,717
793,602
16,189
15,996,508
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31

Fair value of financial instruments
Financial instruments recorded at fair value
The following is a description of how fair values are determined for financial instruments that are recorded at fair value using
valuation techniques. These incorporate the Bank’s estimate of assumptions that a market participant would make when
valuing the instruments.
Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by valuation
technique.
Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are observable, either
directly or indirectly.
Level 3: Techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable
market data.

31.1 Financial assets at FVOCI
Financial assets at FVOCI consists of quoted and unquoted equity securities. Quoted equity securities are valued using quoted
market prices in the active markets as at the reporting date. Unquoted shares are valued at cost as explained in Note 19.
31.2 Determination of fair value and fair value hierarchy
Set out below is a comparison, by class, of the carrying amounts and fair values of the Bank’s financial instruments that are
not carried at fair value in the financial statements. This table does not include the fair values of non-financial assets and nonfinancial liabilities.
31 December 2018
Carrying
amount
Fair value
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension
Scheme
Total financial liabilities

31 December 2017
Carrying
amount
Fair value

1,332,292
1,843,416
1,900,078
13,158,972
4,797,296
144,526
23,176,581

1,332,292
1,843,416
1,899,793
12,198,904
4,796,577
144,526
22,215,509

1,322,853
1,913,495
1,750,216
12,552,368
4,381,825
123,483
22,044,240

1,322,853
1,913,495
1,750,216
12,221,060
4,381,825
123,483
21,712,932

15,257,418
921,761

15,257,418
921,761

15,186,717
793,602

15,186,717
793,602

22,805

22,805

16,189

16,189

16,201,984

16,201,984

15,996,508

15,996,508
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31.3 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities not carried at fair value
The following describes the methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair values for those financial instruments
which are not already recorded at fair value in the financial statements.
Assets for which fair value approximates carrying value
For financial assets and financial liabilities that have a short term maturity it is assumed that the carrying amounts approximate
their fair value. This assumption is also applied to demand deposits, savings accounts without a specific maturity and unquoted
shares.
32

Risk management

32.1 Introduction
Risk is inherent in the Bank's activities but is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and
monitoring, and is subject to risk limits and other controls as per the risk appetite of the Bank. The Bank’s most significant
risk exposures are considered to be in the areas of credit risk, market risk, operational risk and liquidity risk. The impact of
other risks such as reputational risk, compliance risk and legal risk are also monitored carefully as are external risks such as
changes in the political, regulatory and industry environment. During the year, the Bank progressed, with external risk
management expertise, to adopt Basel 3 standards along with various risk management measures and governance required.

32.2 Risk management objectives, policies and processes
The foremost objective of risk management is to assess the uncertainty of the future in order to make the best possible decision
at present so as to protect the Bank’s stability and financial strength. The Bank's risk management policies are established to
identify and analyse the risks faced by the Bank, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor adherence to these
limits and controls. Further, all risk management policies are updated regularly to reflect, among other things, changes in
market conditions, products and services offered by the Bank as well as prevailing regulatory requirements.
The measurement of financial instruments is done in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial instruments for asset classification
and provisioning, with appropriate assessment of expectation of future cash flows. The most appropriate methods of
ascertaining the risk of such instruments is done by way of assessing the future settlement plan. Early identification of any
issues is essential to address the challenges of the environment and to determine the future cash flows of the Bank. Having
identified the categories of the measurements, the Bank implemented mitigating controls for better portfolio management.
Separate management methods were introduced as per collateral, risk rating, and cash flow attached to each instrument.
Stringent measures were introduced for products which needed close monitoring.
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32.3

Risk management structure
Overall responsibility for risk management in the Bank lies with the Board of Directors. The Bank has in place appropriate
policies which define its risk appetite and risk management framework, including the responsibilities of senior management in
implementing these policies. There are committees at both Board and Management levels to ensure that appropriate risk
governance is in place. The Bank's governance model is organized according to the principles of three lines of defense which
separates the Bank's control functions (Risk management, compliance and internal audit) from its risk-taking functions.

Board of Directors

Board Audit and Risk
Management Committee

Board Credit Committee

Shari'ah Advisory
Committee

All Risk Committee

Board Appointment,
Nomination &
Remuneration Committee

Internal Audit

Asset and Liability
Management Committee

Management Credit
Committee and Credit
Portfolio Committee

Executive Committee

Board Level Committee
Management Level Committee
32.3.1 Board Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Audit and Risk Management Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Bank’s risk management framework related to
the identification, measurement, monitoring and controlling of risks. The Committee also reviews and monitors the integrity
of the Bank’s financial statements and financial reporting process and its systems of internal accounting and financial
controls. In addition, the Committee reviews and challenges where necessary the consistency of, and any changes to,
accounting policies. The Committee reviews the compliance of the Bank with legal and regulatory requirements including its
disclosure requirements, controls and procedures. Furthermore, the Committee reviews the engagement of the external
auditors and the evaluation of the independence, objectivity and performance of the external auditors. The Chief Internal
Auditor reports directly to the Committee. Moreover, the Committee investigates any matters within its terms of reference and
in this regard the Committee is given full access to information and full-cooperation is provided by the management to enable
it to discharge its functions properly.
32.3.2 Board Credit Committee
The Board of Directors has delegated the responsibility for the oversight of credit risk to the Board Credit Committee upto a
specific level and the Committee's responsibilities include reviewing and approving credit proposals in line with the Bank's
Delegation of Authority Policy.
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32.3.3

All Risk Committee
The All Risk Committee is a management level committee which has been established to ensure the Bank’s risk management
framework is robust and well-functioning. The Committee reviews the risk environment and the Bank’s performance against
the full spectrum of risks faced in its activities, determining appropriate preventive and mitigating actions where necessary.
The Committee is responsible to ensure that risk management strategies, policies, systems and plans are in place in line with
the Committee’s objectives and responsibilities.

32.3.4

Asset and Liability Management Committee
The Asset and Liability Committee is responsible for ensuring the Bank manages its liquidity in the most productive and
prudent manner in compliance with the its Liquidity Management Policy. The Committee reviews key risks such as liquidity
risk, interest rate risk, currency risk and market risk.

32.3.5

Management Credit Committee
The Management Credit Committee is a credit approving committee with responsibilities delegated up to a specific level and
the Committee's responsibilities include reviewing and approving credit proposals in line with the Bank's Delegation of
Authority Policy.

32.3.6

Credit Portfolio Committee
The Credit Portfolio Committee is a management level committee established to ensure that the Bank's loan portfolio and
credit risk profile are in compliance with the Bank's Credit Policy.

32.4

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss due to the failure of a customer or a counterparty to meet their contractual obligations
towards the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from interbank, commercial and consumer loans and advances, and loan
commitments arising from such lending activities, but can also arise from credit enhancement provided, such as financial
guarantees, letters of credit, endorsements and acceptances.
The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in debt securities and settlement balances with market
counterparties and reverse repurchase agreements. The Bank manages and controls this risk, among other things, by
establishing limits for borrowers, counterparties, industries and the overall credit portfolio based on economic conditions,
regulatory requirements and other factors.
The note 32.4.2 discusses the measurement of ECL under IFRS 9 and the information and approaches that the Bank uses to
manage credit risk. The approach taken for IFRS 9 measurement purposes is discussed separately in note 32.4.3.
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32.4.1

Management of credit risk
The effective management of credit risk is a critical component of the Bank’s comprehensive approach to its overall risk
management and is fundamental to the safety and soundness of the Bank. The goal of credit risk management is to
maximize the Bank's risk-adjusted rate of return by maintaining credit risk exposure within acceptable parameters. The
Bank manages the credit risk inherent in the entire loan portfolio as well as the risk in individual credits and transactions.
The Bank has a well-defined Credit Policy which has been approved by the Board of Directors and which sets out the
credit appetite of the Bank. The policy is supported by detailed credit guidelines and procedures.
The Bank’s credit risk management process broadly encompasses the following;
(a) Loan origination and risk appraisal comprising initial screening and credit appraisal are conducted for all loan proposals.
(b) Clear guidelines and policies have been established for loan approvals within delegated credit approval authorities.
(c) Credit administration and disbursement is performed by the Loan Service Unit (for retail loans) and Corporate
Banking Division (for corporate loans). These units are responsible for ensuring that the origination and disbursement
of credit is made only after stipulated conditions have been met and relevant security documents obtained in order to
protect the Bank's rights as lender.
(d) Timely portfolio reviews are performed pertaining to inherent and evolving risk. Additionally, responsibilities for
monitoring and tracking any early warning signals pertaining to a deterioration in the financial health of borrowers
have been assigned to the respective business units who are also responsible for identifying and managing any
customers who need special attention or close monitoring.
(e) Non-performing loans and receivables are managed by the Recoveries Unit. This unit's responsibilities include
restructuring of the credit, monitoring the value of the applicable collateral and liaising with the customer until all legal
recovery matters are finalized.
The Bank's credit risk management process is articulated in the relevant lending policies, which are approved by the Board
of Directors. These policies lay down the conditions and guidelines for the granting, maintenance, monitoring and
management of credit at both individual transaction and portfolio levels. These policies are consistent with prudent
practices and with relevant regulatory requirements. Limits have been prescribed for the Bank's exposure to any single
borrower, group of specific borrowers and specific industries/sectors in order to avoid concentration of credit risk.
A well structured loan review mechanism is in place and a comprehensive review is carried out on a quarterly basis for
individually significant loans. Customers that require special attention are identified and more frequent updates are carried
out for "Watch List" exposures.
The Bank’s policy requires the review of individual financial assets that are above materiality thresholds at least annually
or more regularly when individual circumstances require. However, current standards require the Bank to undertake a
quarterly review of all accounts.

32.4.2

Credit risk measurement
Loans and advances (including loan commitments and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as the exposure
varies with changes in market conditions, expected cash flows and the passage of time. The assessment of credit risk of a
portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of
default correlations between counterparties. The Bank measures credit risk using Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at
Default (EAD) and Loss Given Default (LGD). This is similar to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected
Credit Loss (ECL) under IFRS 9. Refer to Note 32.4.3 for more details.
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32.4.3

Expected credit loss measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition as
summarised below:
•
•

•
•

•

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit
risk continuously monitored by the Bank.
If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is
moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. Please refer to Note 32.4.3.1 for a description of
how the Bank determines when a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.
If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’. Please refer to
Note 32.4.3.2 for a description of how the Bank defines credit-impaired and default.
Financial instruments in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of expected credit
losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3 have their
ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis. Please refer to Note 32.4.3.3 for a description of
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the ECL.
A pervasive concept in measuring ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking
information. Note 32.4.3.4 includes an explanation of how the Bank has incorporated this in its ECL models.

Further explanation is also provided of how the Bank determines appropriate groupings when ECL is measured on a
collective basis (refer to Note 32.4.3.5).
The following diagram summarises the impairment requirements under IFRS 9:
Change in credit quality since initial recognition

Stage 1
(Initial recognition)

Stage 2
(Significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition)

12-month expected credit losses

Lifetime expected credit losses

Stage 3
(Credit-impaired assets)
Lifetime expected credit losses

The key judgements and assumptions adopted by the Bank in addressing the requirements of the standard are discussed
below.
32.4.3.1 Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
The Bank considers a financial instrument to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when one or more of
the following quantitative, qualitative criteria have been met:
Quantitative criteria:
The remaining Lifetime PD at the reporting date has increased, compared to the residual Lifetime PD expected when the
exposure was first recognised, so that it exceeds the relevant threshold as per the table below.
Criteria
Days past due
Provision percentage as per MMA
Prudential Guidelines
Downgrades - Internal/ MMA

At initial recognition

At reporting date

0-30 days
1%

31-89 days
5% - 20%

Not downgraded

Downgrade in asset classification
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These thresholds have been determined separately for retail, corporate, business and investment portfolios, by assessing
how the Lifetime PD moves prior to an instrument becoming delinquent. The Lifetime PD movements on instruments
which do not subsequently become delinquent have also been assessed, to identify the “natural” movement in Lifetime
PD which is not considered indicative of a significant increase in credit risk.
Qualitative criteria:
For retail portfolios, if the borrower meets one or more of the following criteria:
• Extension to the terms granted
• Previous arrears within the last [12] months
For corporate, business and investment portfolios, if the borrower is on the watchlist and/or the instrument meets one or
more of the following criteria:
• Significant increase in credit spread
• Significant adverse changes in business, financial and/or economic conditions in which the borrower operates
• Actual or expected forbearance or restructuring
• Actual or expected significant adverse change in operating results of the borrower
• Significant change in collateral value (secured facilities only) which is expected to increase risk of default
• Early signs of cash flow/liquidity problems such as delay in servicing of trade creditors/loans
The assessment of SICR incorporates forward-looking information (refer to Note 32.4.3.4 for further information) and is
performed on a quarterly basis at a portfolio level for all retail financial instruments held by the Bank. In relation to
corporate and investment financial instruments, where a watchlist is used to monitor credit risk, this assessment is
performed at the counterparty level and on a quarterly basis. The criteria used to identify SICR are monitored and
reviewed annually for appropriateness by the Bank.
The Bank has not used the low credit risk exemption for any financial instrument in the year ended 31 December 2018.
32.4.3.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired assets
The Bank defines a financial instrument as in default, which is fully aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when
it meets one or more of the following criteria:
Quantitative criteria
•
•

The borrower is past due for 90 days or more on its contractual payments.
Provision percentage as per MMA Prudential Guidelines has reached 25% or more against the financial instrument

Qualitative criteria
The borrower meets unlikeliness to pay criteria, which indicates the borrower is in significant financial difficulty. These
are instances where:
• The borrower is in long-term forbearance
• The borrower is deceased
• The borrower is insolvent
• The borrower is in breach of financial covenant(s)
• An active market for that financial asset has disappeared because of financial difficulties
• Concessions have been made by the lender relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty
• It is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
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The criteria above have been applied to all financial instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with the definition
of default used for internal credit risk management purposes. The default definition has been applied consistently to
model the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default (EAD) and Loss given Default (LGD) throughout the Bank’s
expected loss calculations.
An instrument is considered to no longer be in default (i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the default
criteria for a consecutive period of six months. This period of six months has been determined based on an analysis
which considers the likelihood of a financial instrument returning to default status after cure using different possible cure
definitions.
32.4.3.3 Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques
The Expected credit loss (ECL) is measured on either a 12-month (12M) or Lifetime basis depending on whether a
significant increase in credit risk has occurred since initial recognition or whether an asset is considered to be creditimpaired. Expected credit losses are the discounted product of the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at Default
(EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD), defined as follows:
•

•

•

The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower defaulting on its financial obligation (as per “Definition of default
and credit-impaired” above), either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime
PD) of the obligation.
EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expects to be owed at the time of default, over the next 12 months (12M
EAD) or over the remaining lifetime (Lifetime EAD). For example, for a revolving commitment, the Bank includes
the current drawn balance plus any further amount that is expected to be drawn up to the current contractual limit
by the time of default, should it occur.
Loss Given Default (LGD) represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD
varies by type of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and availability of collateral or other credit support.
LGD is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of exposure at the time of default (EAD). LGD is calculated on a 12month or lifetime basis, where 12-month LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs in
the next 12 months and Lifetime LGD is the percentage of loss expected to be made if the default occurs over the
remaining expected lifetime of the loan.

The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure or
collective segment. These three components are multiplied together and adjusted for the likelihood of survival (i.e. the
exposure has not prepaid or defaulted in an earlier month). This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month,
which is then discounted back to the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the
original effective interest rate or an approximation thereof.
The Lifetime PD is developed by applying the survival logic on the current 12M PD for each asset type and each pool for
the remaining lifetime of the assets.
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by product type,
as given below.
•
•

For amortising products and bullet repayment loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the
borrower over a 12month or lifetime basis.
For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding a 'credit
conversion factor' which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining limit by the time of default. These
assumptions vary by product type and current limit utilisation band, based on analysis of the Bank’s recent default
data.
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The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post default.
These vary by product type and are detailed below.
•
•

For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, historical discounts
to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs observed.
For unsecured products, LGDs are typically set at product level due to the limited differentiation in recoveries
achieved across different borrowers. These LGDs are influenced by collection strategies, including contracted debt
sales and price.

Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD. These assumptions
vary by retail and corporate segment wise. Refer to Note 32.4.3.4 for an explanation of forward-looking information and
its inclusion in ECL calculations.
The assumptions underlying the ECL calculation – such as how the maturity profile of the PDs and how collateral values
change etc. – are monitored and reviewed on a quarterly basis.
There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the reporting
period.
32.4.3.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL model
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information. In an attempt to
identify key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit losses, the Bank came to the understanding that
most of the macro economic variables did not indicate a clear representation to each portfolio, as the statistical hypothesis
behind the estimates could not be tested. Accordingly, the Bank found it feasible and chose the approach of 'Expert
Judgment' to derive the forward looking information to apply on 12 month PD.
In addition to the base (current) economic scenarios, the Bank's management also provide other possible scenarios along
with scenario weightings. The scenarios and their attributes are reassessed at each reporting date. The scenario
weightings are determined by expert credit judgement, taking account of the range of possible outcomes each chosen
scenario is representative of.
Economic variable assumptions
The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at 31 December 2018 are set out below.

Scenarios
Upside 2
Upside
Base
Downside
Downside 2

Tourism
outlook
75.0%
90.0%
100.0%
110.0%
125.0%

Political Unemployment
environment
rate
75.0%
90.0%
100.0%
110.0%
125.0%

75.0%
90.0%
100.0%
110.0%
125.0%

Government
expenditure

GDP

Inflation

75.0%
90.0%
100.0%
110.0%
125.0%

75.0%
90.0%
100.0%
110.0%
125.0%

75.0%
90.0%
100.0%
110.0%
125.0%

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 were as follows:
Corporate weight
Product
Forward multiplier

32.5%
35.8%
110.0%

Retail weight
Product
Forward multiplier

30.0%
33.0%
108.0%

10.0%
11.0%

-

-

20.0%
20.0%

25.0%
27.5%

-

32.5%
35.8%

-

30.0%
33.0%

20.0%
22.0%

Hence for corporate portfolio, the factor 1.1 is multiplied with the default rate to calculate Forward PD. Similarly, factor
1.08 is multiplied for both retail and business portfolios.
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As with any economic forecasts, the projections and likelihoods of occurrence are subject to a high degree of inherent
uncertainty and therefore the actual outcomes may be significantly different to those projected. The Bank considers these
forecasts to represent its best estimate of the possible outcomes that the chosen scenarios are appropriately representative
of the range of possible scenarios.
Other forward-looking considerations not otherwise incorporated within the above scenarios, such as the impact of any
regulatory or legislative, have also been considered, but are not deemed to have a material impact and therefore no
adjustment has been made to the ECL for such factors. This is reviewed and monitored for appropriateness on an annual
basis.
32.4.3.5 Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis
For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed on the basis of
shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous.
In performing this grouping, there must be sufficient information for the group to be statistically credible. The Bank
segmented its portfolio using a hierarchical approach. The characteristics used to determine groupings are outlined
Segmentation approach
(a) Loan portfolio:
Level I
The assets are segmented on the basis of the status of the borrower and/or purpose of the loan as under:
- Corporate
- Business banking – Non corporate borrowers who have taken loan for business purpose
- Retail – Non corporate borrowers who have taken loan for personal purpose
Level II
- Corporate borrowers and business banking borrowers pool, as per Level I above, is further segmented on the
basis of the ‘economic sector’ to which they are associated
- Retail borrowers pool, as per Level I above, is further segmented on the basis of the ‘purpose of the loan’
(b) Investment portfolio:

No segmentation was done within the investment portfolio

The Bank monitors and reviews the appropriateness of groupings on a periodic basis.
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32.4.4

Credit risk exposure

32.4.4.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk - Financial instruments subject to impairment
The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL allowance
is recognised. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Bank’s maximum exposure to
credit risk on these assets.

Credit grade

Stage 1
12-month
ECL

2018
ECL staging
Stage 2
Stage 3
Lifetime
Lifetime
ECL
ECL

2017

Total

Total

Investment grade
Standard monitoring
Special monitoring
Default
Gross carrying amount

6,697,375
11,253,523
341,350
18,292,247

188,926
394,248
583,174

22,250
5,138
953,537
980,925

6,697,375
11,464,699
740,736
953,537
19,856,346

6,132,041
11,532,276
327,043
693,049
18,684,409

Impairment allowance
Net carrying amount

(350,881)
17,941,366

(84,655)
498,519

(525,536)
455,389

(961,072)
18,895,274

(331,309)
18,353,101

Information on how the Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured and how the three stages above are determined is
included in Note 32.4.3 ‘Expected credit loss measurement’.
32.4.4.2 Collateral and other credit enhancements
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is accepting
collateral for funds lent. An approved list of acceptable securities and the applicable percentage of cash security category
are defined under the Collateral Policy of the Bank.
The Bank prepares a valuation of the collaterals obtained as part of the loan origination process. The management
monitors the market value of collateral, and will require additional collateral in accordance with the underlying
agreement. It is the Bank’s policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly manner. The proceeds are used to
reduce or repay the outstanding claim. This assessment is reviewed periodically. The principal collateral types for loans
and advances are:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Business premises and resort properties;
Mortgages over residential properties;
Charges over business assets such as inventory and accounts receivable;
Vessels and vehicles;
Debt securities
Corporate and personal guarantees; and
Cash

To the extent possible, the Bank uses active market data for valuing ﬁnancial assets, held as collateral. Other ﬁnancial
assets which do not have a readily determinable market value are valued using models. Non-ﬁnancial collateral, such as
real estate, is valued based on data provided by third parties such as independent professional valuers.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and receivables depends on the nature of the instrument.
Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured, with the exception of asset-backed securities and
similar instruments, which are secured by portfolios of financial instruments.
The Bank’s policy is to sell the repossessed assets at the earliest possible opportunity and the Bank’s policy regarding
obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period. There has been no significant change in
the overall quality of the collateral held by the Bank since the prior period.
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The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit-impaired, as it becomes more likely
that the Bank will take possession of collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are credit-impaired
and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below.

Credit-impaired assets
Loans to individuals:
- Overdrafts
- Credit cards
- Term loans
- Mortgages
Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate customers
- Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs)
Total credit-impaired assets
32.4.5

Gross
exposure

Impairment
allowance

Carrying Fair value of
amount collateral held

3,169
16,281
213,185
84,795

(3,429)
(23,149)
(149,701)
(56,250)

(260)
(6,868)
63,484
28,545

9,330
20,117

614,844
48,651
980,925

(249,767)
(43,240)
(525,536)

365,077
5,411
455,389

281,691
4,692
315,831

Loss allowance
The loss allowance recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, as described below:
• Transfers between Stage 1 and Stages 2 or Stage 3 due to financial instruments experiencing significant increases
(or decreases) of credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent “step up” (or “step
down”) between 12-month and Lifetime ECL;
• Additional allowances for new financial instruments recognised during the period, as well as releases for financial
instruments de-recognised in the period;
• Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs and LGDs in the period, arising from regular
refreshing of inputs to models;
• Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;
• Interest unwind within ECL due to the passage of time, as ECL is measured on a present value basis;
• Financial assets derecognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to assets that were written off
during the period (see Note 32.4.6).
The following tables explain the changes in the impairment allowance between the beginning and the end of the annual
period due to these factors:
Stage 1
Stage 2
Stage 3
12-month
Lifetime
Lifetime
Total
ECL
ECL
ECL
Impairment allowances as at 1 January 2018
Movements with profit or loss impact
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
New Financial assets originated
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
Unwind of interest (a)
Total net profit or loss charge during the period

478,407

75,537

674,161

(5,789)
(7,177)
1,047
2,514
63,485
(181,606)
(127,526)

45,128
(7,284)
4,278
(25,816)
6,034
(13,222)
9,119

29,459
3,004
(22,849)
(30,504)
170,012
(73,241)
14,494
90,375

39,339
22,282
(4,280)
(18,570)
(29,457)
(23,302)
239,531
(268,069)
14,494
(28,032)

Other movements with no profit or loss impact
Write-offs
Impairment allowance as at 31 December 2018

350,881

84,655

(239,001)
525,536

(239,001)
961,072
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The following table further explains changes in the gross carrying amount of the financial assets to help explain their
significance to the changes in the loss allowance for the same portfolio as discussed above:
Stage 1
12-month
ECL
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018
Transfers:
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 3
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 2
Transfer from Stage 3 to Stage 1
Transfer from Stage 2 to Stage 1
Financial assets derecognized during the period other than
write-offs
New financial assets originated
Write-offs
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018
32.4.6

17,095,612

Stage 2
Lifetime
ECL
525,344

Stage 3
Lifetime
ECL
1,063,452

Total
18,684,409

(237,105)
(205,556)
38,989
173,423

317,382
(55,715)
25,805
(230,689)

202,849
45,654
(28,162)
(51,980)
-

80,277
(2,707)
(10,061)
(2,357)
(12,991)
(57,265)

(1,358,681)

(46,239)

(66,399)

(1,471,320)

2,785,566
18,292,247

47,286
583,174

54,511
(239,001)
980,925

2,887,362
(239,001)
19,856,346

Write-off policy
The Bank writes off financial assets, in whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and has
concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Bank’s recovery method is foreclosing on collateral and the
value of the collateral is such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full.
The Bank may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual
amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2018 was MVR 239,000,555/-. The Bank still
seeks to recover amounts which it is legally entitled to in full, but which have been fully/partially written off due to no
reasonable expectation of full recovery.

32.4.7

Modification of financial assets
The Bank sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for
distressed loans, with a view to maximising recovery.
Such restructuring activities include extended payment term arrangements, payment holidays and payment forgiveness.
Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgement of management, indicate
that payment will most likely continue. These restructured facilities are kept under continuous review.
The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk under the
original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of
the original asset (refer to Notes 2.9.1.1(iv)). The Bank monitors the subsequent performance of modified assets. The
Bank may determine that the credit risk has significantly improved after restructuring, so that the assets are moved from
Stage 3 or Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12-month ECL). This is only the case for assets which have performed in
accordance with the new terms for six consecutive months or more. The gross carrying amount of such assets held as at
31 December 2018 was MVR 156,052,716/-.
The Bank continues to monitor if there is a subsequent significant increase in credit risk in relation to such assets through
the use of specific information for modified assets.
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32.4.8 Investments in equity instruments designated at FVOCI
The investments were made for strategic purposes rather than with a view to profit on a subsequent sale, and the Bank has
no plans to dispose of these investments in the short or medium term.
The fair value of these investments is MVR 144,525,706/- as at 31 December 2018. There was no dividend recognised
during the period nor transfers of the cumulative gain within equity.
32.4.9 Loans and receivables are summarised as follows:

Stage 1 - Performing
Stage 2 - Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
Stage 3 - Credit impaired (Default)
Gross loans and receivables to customers
Less: allowance for impairment
Net loans and receivables to customers

2018

2017

11,594,873
583,174
980,925
13,158,972
(960,068)
12,198,904

10,963,571
525,344
1,063,452
12,552,368
(331,309)
12,221,060

Further information of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables to customers is provided in Note 18.
Loans and receivables - Analysed by industry
2018
Commerce
Construction
Fishing
Manufacturing
Transport and services
Tourism
Real Estate
Consumer
Other

719,168
3,642,523
445,617
86,583
679,687
4,112,530
905,514
1,790,800
776,550
13,158,972

2017
801,585
2,876,292
518,778
97,661
713,452
3,980,650
919,018
1,620,985
1,023,948
12,552,368

(a) Stage 1 - Performing
Currently, the Bank does not maintain an internal credit rating system except for exposures which are classified as nonperforming. However, the Bank carries out an in-depth credit risk assessment on a qualitative and quantitative basis before
granting a facility. Exposure to each borrower is reviewed on a scheduled basis.
In evaluating credit risks, the Bank considers qualitative criteria pertinent to the borrower, including management depth
and reputation, the borrower’s past track record, the industry, business risks and operating environment. The Bank looks
for quality, stability and sustainability of performance. In terms of quantitative assessment, the Bank analyses the
borrower’s historical and projected financial statements, where pertinent.
To manage and mitigate risk of loss in the event of default, the Bank looks firstly at the protection accorded by the
borrower’s net assets versus the Bank’s exposure to the borrower. Where appropriate, the Bank will examine the quality,
liquidity and hence the realisable value of the borrower's principal operating assets such as account receivables, inventory
and capital assets. In establishing financial protection for its exposure, the Bank may take a security interest in such assets
by way of mortgages, pledges, assignments and the like. In addition, the Bank may also take additional collateral offered
by the borrower’s principals or third parties to ensure adequate protection with a margin. Taking collateral is a prevalent
practice in the local lending environment as an additional prudent measure to mitigate against potential loss at default.
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Gross amount of loans and receivables to customers by class that were in Stage 1 are as follows.

Stage 1 Performing
31 December 2018
31 December 2017

Overdrafts
8,734
25,050

Individual (Retail customers)
Credit
cards Term loans Mortgages
395,779
331,946

543,563
598,128

4,000,743
3,039,617

Retail
banking
1,367,641
1,259,360

Corporate
entities
5,278,413
5,709,472

Total
11,594,873
10,963,571

(b) Stage 2 - SICR
Loans and receivables to customers in Stage 2 are not considered as impaired unless information is available to indicate the
contrary. Gross amount of loans and receivables to customers by class that were in Stage 2 are as follows.

Stage 2 - SICR

31 December 2018
31 December 2017

Overdrafts
7,428
2,478

Individual (Retail customers)
Credit
cards Term loans Mortgages
-

129,617
172,859

230,566
288,575

Retail
banking

Corporate
entities

36,513
32,805

179,051
28,628

Total
583,174
525,344

(c) Stage 3 - Credit impaired (Default)
Gross amount of loans and receivables by class to customers that were in Stage 3 are as follows.

Stage 3 Credit impaired
31 December 2018
31 December 2017

Overdrafts
9,700
12,488

Individual (Retail customers)
Credit
cards Term loans Mortgages
16,281
13,528

218,355
245,700

84,795
107,592

Retail
banking

Corporate
entities

36,950
37,650

614,844
646,494

Total
980,925
1,063,452

(d) Loans and receivables renegotiated
Renegotiated loans totaled MVR 156,052,716/- as at 31 December 2018 (2017: MVR 242,131,110/-).
Renegotiated loans and receivables to customers

2018

Individuals:
Continuing to be impaired after restructuring
Non–impaired after restructuring – would otherwise have been impaired
Non–impaired after restructuring – would otherwise not have been impaired
Corporate entities:
Non–impaired after restructuring – would otherwise have been impaired
Non–impaired after restructuring – would otherwise not have been impaired

2017

16,554
23,353
36,437

29,166
22,091
66,027

77,832
1,876
156,053

124,848
242,131
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32.4.10 Commitments and contingencies

To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent liabilities.
Even though these obligations may not be recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain credit risk and
are therefore part of the overall credit risk exposure of the Bank.
The table below shows the Bank’s maximum credit risk exposure for commitments and guarantees.
As at 31 December

2018

Guarantees
Documentary credit
Acceptances
Operating lease commitments
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Overdraft commitments

32.5

79,621
83,991
8,925
138,971
104,566
1,087,478
224,165
1,727,717

2017
45,606
89,417
25,831
35,867
58,552
2,378,536
132,862
2,766,672

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk arises because of the possibility that
the Bank might be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall due under both normal and stress circumstances.

32.5.1

Management of liquidity risk
Maintaining adequate liquidity is essential to manage the expected and unexpected fluctuations in the assets and liabilities
of the Bank and to provide funds for growth. The Bank deals with the management of risks arising from changes in
liquidity due to internal and external factors, changes in interest rate movements and changes in exchange rates.
Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections on a regular basis. The starting point for
projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the
financial assets.
The Bank also monitors unmatched medium-term assets, the level and type of undrawn lending commitments, the usage of
overdraft facilities and the impact of contingent liabilities such as standby letters of credit and guarantees.
The Bank maintains a statutory deposit with MMA equal to 10% of customer deposits. Furthermore, the Bank maintains a
ratio of net liquid assets to liabilities to reflect market conditions.
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32.5.2 Contractual maturities of undiscounted cash flows of assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total undiscounted financial assets
Non financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total undiscounted non-financial assets
Total undiscounted assets

Less than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

1,332,292

-

-

-

1,332,292

1,843,416

-

-

-

1,843,416

Total

1,899,793
1,301,166
1,906,144
8,282,813

519,735
2,765,665
3,285,400

2,422,257
124,767
2,547,025

8,915,813
144,526
9,060,339

1,899,793
13,158,972
4,796,577
144,526
23,175,576

197,145
197,145
8,479,958

3,285,400

2,547,025

346,186
63,790
150,474
560,450
9,620,788

346,186
63,790
347,619
757,595
23,933,171

14,557,664
121,743

547,249
431,939

152,505
346,600

21,479

15,257,418
921,761

Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement
Pension Scheme
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

14,702,212

979,188

499,105

21,479

16,201,984

Non financial liabilities
Bank profit tax liability
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Total undiscounted non-financial liabilities
Total undiscounted liabilities

592,333
592,333
15,294,545

315,381
315,381
1,294,569

499,105

16,228
16,228
37,707

315,381
16,228
592,333
923,942
17,125,926

Net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)

(6,419,399)

2,306,212

2,047,920

9,038,859

6,973,592

Net undiscounted assets/(liabilities)

(6,814,587)

1,990,831

2,047,920

9,583,081

6,807,245

22,805

-

-

-

22,805

Management believes that in spite of substantial portion of customer accounts being on demand, diversification of these
deposits by number and type of depositors, and the past experience of the Bank would indicate that these customer accounts
provide a long-term and stable source of funding for the Bank.
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As at 31 December 2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total undiscounted financial assets
Non financial assets
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total undiscounted non-financial assets
Total undiscounted assets
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement
Pension Scheme
Total undiscounted financial liabilities

Less than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1,322,853

-

-

-

1,322,853

1,913,495

-

-

-

1,913,495

Over 5
years

Total

1,750,216
2,469,008
1,423,782
8,879,354

428,074
2,793,534
3,221,608

2,258,943
17,188
2,276,131

7,396,343
147,321
123,483
7,667,147

1,750,216
12,552,368
4,381,825
123,483
22,044,240

100,173
100,173
8,979,527

10
10
3,221,618

2,276,131

336,894
72,089
142,869
551,852
8,218,999

10
336,894
72,089
243,042
652,035
22,696,275

14,850,945
371,290

335,767
35,512

361,420

5
25,380

15,186,717
793,602

16,189

-

-

-

16,189

15,238,424

371,279

361,420

25,385

15,996,508

Non financial liabilities
Bank profit tax liability
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Total undiscounted non-financial liabilities
Total undiscounted liabilities

486,849
486,849
15,725,273

310,644
310,644
681,923

361,420

22,848
22,848
48,232

310,644
22,848
486,849
820,341
16,816,848

Net undiscounted financial assets/(liabilities)

(6,359,070)

2,850,329

1,914,711

7,641,763

6,047,733

Net undiscounted assets/(liabilities)

(6,745,747)

2,539,695

1,914,711

8,170,767

5,879,427
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32.5.3 Contractual maturities of commitments and contingencies
The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s contingent liabilities and commitments. Each
undrawn loan commitment is included in the time band containing the earliest date it can be drawn down. For issued
financial guarantee contracts, the maximum amount of the guarantee is allocated to the earliest period in which the
guarantee could be called upon.
As at 31 December 2018
Contingencies
Guarantees
Documentary credit
Acceptances
Commitments
Operating lease commitments
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Overdraft commitments

As at 31 December 2017
Contingencies
Guarantees
Documentary credit
Acceptances
Commitments
Operating lease commitments
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Overdraft commitments

32.6

Less than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

Over 5
years

30,640
75,527
8,267
114,434

30,884
8,464
658
40,006

18,097
18,097

196
410,426
13,599
424,222

6,191
104,566
677,052
210,272
998,082

10,435
293
10,728

122,149
122,149

138,971
104,566
1,087,478
224,165
1,555,180

538,656

1,038,088

28,825

122,149

1,727,717

Less than 3
months

3 to 12
months

1 to 5
years

-

Total
79,621
83,991
8,925
172,537

Over 5
years

Total

11,465
15,932
25,831
53,228

26,603
73,485
100,088

7,538
7,538

-

45,606
89,417
25,831
160,854

573,655
13,120
586,775

18,109
58,552
1,804,881
119,736
2,001,278

15,976
6
15,982

1,782
1,782

35,867
58,552
2,378,536
132,862
2,605,818

640,002

2,101,366

23,520

1,782

2,766,672

Market risk
Market risk relates to the impact of fluctuations in market rates on the Bank’s assets and liabilities, or the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in market variables such as interest rates,
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank does not have a trading portfolio or quoted equity investments.
Therefore the Bank is not open to any equity price risk.
Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities.
Management of market risk
The Bank has in place appropriate policies, processes and procedures to support the ongoing management of market risk.
The market risks arising from non-trading activities are reviewed by the Bank’s Asset and Liability Management
Committee (ALCO).
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32.6.1 Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is an inherent risk created when there is a mismatch between the tenors of an asset vis-à-vis the tenors of
liabilities or when there is a mismatch between floating and fixed rate assets and liabilities. Interest rate risk results from
the differences in interest rate changes on assets, liabilities and off-balance sheet instruments.
Cash ﬂow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash ﬂows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes
in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.
Management of interest rate risk
The Bank does not carry a trading portfolio and does not generally invest in stocks or shares other than government treasury
bills and money market placements. These investments are generally less than 12 months and are held to maturity. The
Bank prepares an interest rate sensitivity of assets and liabilities which is presented to the Bank's Asset and Liability
Management Committee (ALCO) on a monthly basis.
The table below analyses the Bank's interest rate risk exposure on financial assets and liabilities. Financial assets and
liabilities are included at carrying amount and categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

As at 31 December 2018
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives
Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total undiscounted financial assets
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives
Retirement Pension Scheme
Total undiscounted financial liabilities
Total interest rate sensitivity gap

Less than
3 months
1,459,922

Interest bearing
3 to 12
1 to 5
months
years

Non
interest
bearing

Total

-

-

-

1,332,292

1,332,292

-

-

-

383,495

1,843,416

1,899,793
1,301,166
1,906,144
6,567,026

519,735
2,765,665
3,285,400

2,422,257
124,767
2,547,025

8,915,813
8,915,813

144,526
1,860,313

1,899,793
13,158,972
4,796,577
144,526
23,175,576

6,038,316
121,743

547,249
431,939

152,505
346,600

21,479

8,519,348
-

15,257,418
921,761

22,805

22,805

8,542,153

16,201,984

(6,681,840)

6,973,592

-

-

-

-

6,160,059

979,188

499,105

21,479

406,967

2,306,212

2,047,920

8,894,334
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As at 31 December 2017
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives
Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Total undiscounted financial assets
Financial liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives
Retirement Pension Scheme
Total undiscounted financial liabilities
Total interest rate sensitivity gap

Less than
3 months
1,506,087

Interest bearing
3 to 12
1 to 5
months
years

Over 5 Non interest
years
bearing

Total

-

-

-

1,322,853

1,322,853

-

-

-

407,408

1,913,495

1,750,216
2,469,008
1,423,782
7,149,093

428,074
2,793,534
3,221,608

2,258,943
17,188
2,276,131

7,396,343
147,321
7,543,664

123,483
1,853,744

1,750,216
12,552,368
4,381,825
123,483
22,044,240

5,580,355
371,290

335,767
35,512

361,420

5
25,380

9,270,591
-

15,186,717
793,602

16,189

16,189

9,286,779

15,996,508

(7,433,035)

6,047,733

-

-

-

-

5,951,645

371,279

361,420

25,385

1,197,448

2,850,329

1,914,711

7,518,280

32.6.2 Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.
This represents exposures the Bank has due to changes in the values of current holdings and future cash flow positions
denominated in currencies other than the local currency.
Impact on equity
2018
2017

Foreign currency

Strengthening of US$ by 10%
Weakening of US$ by 10%

24,910
(24,910)

25,117
(25,117)

Strengthening of Euro by 10%
Weakening of Euro by 10%

134
(134)

967
(967)

Strengthening of GBP by 10%
Weakening of GBP by 10%

90
(90)

61
(61)

Strengthening of JPY by 10%
Weakening of JPY by 10%

363
(363)

221
(221)

Strengthening of SGD by 10%
Weakening of SGD by 10%

449
(449)

319
(319)
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32.6.3

Management of currency risk
The majority of transactions in the Bank, other than those in the local currency of Maldivian Rufiyaa (MVR), are carried
out in United States Dollars (USD). Up to April 2011, the exchange rate of USD against MVR was fixed and since then it
has been maintained within the 20% cap and floor of the base rate determined by the Maldives Monetary Authority
(MMA). Therefore, the Bank is not susceptible to any major currency fluctuation risk. The Bank does not engage in large
scale transactions in foreign currencies on a speculative basis.
The risk associated with changes in foreign exchange rates from holding open positions in a particular currency or
combination of currencies, is controlled through a combination of foreign exchange position limits and transaction limits
which comply with regulatory requirements. These exposures are monitored on a fortnight basis and reported to the Bank's
Asset and Liability Management Committee.
As at 31 December
2018

MVR

Assets
Cash and cash
430,354
equivalents
Statutory deposit with
771,971
Maldives Monetary
Authority
1,899,793
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to
8,096,611
customers
Financial assets at
4,671,810
amortized cost
Financial assets at
FVOCI
394,363
Other assets
16,264,901
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other
borrowed funds
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Net on-balance sheet
financial position

USD

EUR

GBP

JPY

SGD

Others

863,863

27,170

896

3,631

4,576

1,803

1,332,292
1,843,416

1,071,446
-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,899,793

1,466

-

-

-

-

13,158,972

124,767

-

-

-

-

-

4,796,577

144,526

-

-

-

-

-

144,526

3,631

4,576

1,803

757,595
23,933,171

5,060,895

362,297
7,627,794

935
29,571

896

8,842,962

6,393,491

20,877

-

-

88

-

15,257,418

75,171

841,595

4,994

-

-

-

-

921,761

800,776
9,718,910

143,611
7,378,697

2,360
28,230

-

-

88

-

946,747
17,125,926

6,545,992

249,096

1,340

1,803

6,807,245
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As at 31 December
2017
Assets
Cash and cash
equivalents
Statutory deposit with
Maldives Monetary
Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to
customers
Financial assets at
amortized cost
Financial assets at
FVOCI
Investment in
subsidiaries
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other
borrowed funds
Other liabilities
Total liabilities
Net on-balance sheet
financial position
32.7

MVR

USD

EUR

GBP

JPY

SGD

Others

434,691

865,476

15,008

606

2,211

3,186

1,677

1,322,854

1,098,625

814,870

-

-

-

-

-

1,913,495

-

-

-

-

-

1,750,216

26,470

-

-

-

-

12,552,368

1,750,216

-

Total

7,712,745

4,813,154

4,234,504

147,321

-

-

-

-

-

4,381,825

123,483

-

-

-

-

-

123,483

-

-

-

-

-

2,211

3,186

1,677

652,025
22,696,275

10

-

10

405,344
15,636,135

245,702
7,010,006

978
42,456

606

9,265,841

5,896,577

24,299

-

-

-

-

15,186,717

85,263

700,550

7,789

-

-

-

-

793,602

674,123
10,025,227

161,704
6,758,831

702
32,790

-

-

-

-

836,529
16,816,848

5,610,907

251,175

9,666

2,211

3,186

1,677

5,879,427

606

Country risk
Country risk is the risk that an occurrence within a country could have an adverse affect on the Bank directly by impairing
the value of the Bank or indirectly through an obligor’s ability to meet its obligations to the Bank. The Bank does not carry
any exposures outside the country of operations other than short-term money market placements.

32.8

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from
external events. The Bank manages and controls this risk, among other things, by identifying and controlling risks in all
activities according to a set of pre-determined parameters by applying appropriate management policies and procedures.

32.8.1 Management of operational risk
The management of operational risk represents a fundamental component of the Bank’s overall approach to risk
management. Operational risk is inherent in every part of the Bank including its products, people, processes and
technology. The Bank has an Operational Risk Policy which outlines its framework for the management of operational risk
including the identification, assessment, measurement, monitoring, mitigation and reporting of operational risk. The Bank's
Operational Risk Policy has been framed in line with the Principles for the Sound Management of Operational Risk (June
2011) issued by the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision.
The Bank's All Risk Committee has responsibility for reviewing the risk environment and the Bank's performance against
the full spectrum of risks faced in its activities, determining appropriate preventive and mitigating actions where necessary.
In terms of operational risk specifically, the Bank has in place an Operational Risk Committee which meets monthly and
which reports to the All Risk Committee.
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33

Net asset value per ordinary share

2018

Total equity holders funds
Number of ordinary shares in issue
Net assets per share (MVR)
34

Additional cash flow information

34.1

Cash and cash equivalents for cash flow purpose

5,847,177
5,381,920
1,086

2018

Cash in hand (Note 13)
Balance with other banks

34.2

854,441
477,851
1,332,292

Other non-cash items included in profit before tax

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 21.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 22)
(Profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Impairment reversal on loans and receivables (Note 18)
Loans written-off during the year (Note 18)
Impairment losses/(gains) on other assets

34.3

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets

Net change in Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Net change in placement with banks
Net change in loans and receivables to customers
Net change in financial assets at amortized cost
Net change in other assets

34.4

Increase/(decrease) in operating liabilities

Net change in due to customers
Net change term debt and other borrowed funds
Net change in custodian accounts of MRPS
Net change in other liabilities

128

5,548,118
5,381,920
1,031

2017
670,045
652,808
1,322,853

2018

2017

49,396
11,359
(251)
(28,032)
(239,001)
3,254
(203,274)

45,595
11,170
(496)
41,657
(545,821)
(40,441)
(488,336)

2018

2017

70,078
(149,862)
(606,603)
(415,471)
(107,831)
(1,209,690)

(249,178)
(200,229)
(2,120,779)
(135,525)
15,164
(2,690,547)

2018

2017

70,701
128,159
6,616
105,484
310,960
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35

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities
The table below shows the assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected to be recovered or settled.

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives
Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to
customers
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Investment in subsidiaries
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets
Total assets

31 December 2018
Within
After 12
12 months
months

Total

31 December 2017
Within
After 12
12 months
months

Total

1,332,292

-

1,332,292

1,322,853

-

1,322,853

1,843,416

-

1,843,416

1,913,495

-

1,913,495

1,899,793

-

1,899,793

1,750,216

-

1,750,216

1,820,901

11,338,070

13,158,972

2,897,082

9,655,286

12,552,368

4,671,810
197,145
11,765,358

124,767
144,526
346,186
63,790
150,474
12,167,813

4,796,577
144,526
346,186
63,790
347,619
23,933,171

4,217,316
10
100,173
12,201,145

164,509
123,483
336,894
72,089
142,869
10,495,130

4,381,825
123,483
10
336,894
72,089
243,042
22,696,275

15,104,913

152,505

15,257,418

15,186,712

5

15,186,717

553,682

368,079

921,761

406,802

386,800

793,602

22,805

16,189

16,228
536,812

315,381
16,228
592,333
17,125,926

310,644
486,849
16,407,196

11,631,001

6,807,245

(4,206,051)

Liabilities
Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed
funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives
Retirement Pension Scheme
Bank profit tax liability
Deferred tax liabilities
Other liabilities
Total liabilities

315,381
592,333
16,589,114

Net assets/ (liabilities)

(4,823,756)

22,805

-

-

16,189

22,848
409,652

310,644
22,848
486,849
16,816,848

10,085,478

5,879,427

-72-

129

BANK OF MALDIVES PLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2018

(All amounts in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated)

36

Material litigation against the Bank
Litigation is a common occurrence in the Banking Industry due to the nature of the business undertaken. The Bank has
formal controls and policies for managing legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and the amount of loss
reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse effects which the claims may have on its
financial standing. At year-end, the Bank had a small number of unresolved legal claims but none that would materially
impact the financial statements of the Bank.

37

Related party disclosure
The Bank carries out transactions in the ordinary course of business with parties who are defined as 'Related Parties' in IAS
24 - Related party disclosures. The terms and conditions of such transactions are disclosed under notes 37.4 and 37.5.

37.1

Parent and ultimate controlling party
The Government of Maldives holds 50.80% of the ordinary shares of the Bank, 15.47% of shares by State owned
entreprises and institutions, whereas the remaining 33.73% of the shares are widely held.

37.2

Transactions with key management personnel of the Bank
The Bank has identified and disclosed personnel having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling
the activities of the Bank as 'key management personnel' in accordance with IAS 24 - Related party disclosures.
Accordingly, the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer have been identified as 'Key Management Personnel'.

37.2.1 Mr. Andrew Healy resigned from the post of Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director of the Board of the Bank with
effect from 30 November 2018. Transactions that occurred up to the date of his resignation had been reported in
transactions with 'key management personnel'. No transaction has occured with him after his resignation.
37.3

Compensation of key management personnel of the Bank

Short-term Benefits
Provident Fund Contribution

37.4

2018
9,375
163
9,538

2017
9,112
151
9,263

Transactions with key management personnel of the Bank
The Bank enters into transactions, arrangements and agreements with key management personnel and close family members
of key management personnel in the ordinary course of business. The transactions below were made in the ordinary course
of business and on substantially the same terms, including interest/commission rates and security, as for comparable
transactions with persons of a similar standing or, where applicable, with other employees.
2018
15,339

8,289

Liabilities
Deposits

15,039

5,089

1,071
105

668
50

Income and expenses
Interest income
Interest expense
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37.5

Transactions with Government of Maldives and government related entities of the Bank
The Bank enters into transactions, arrangements and agreements with Government of Maldives and government related
entities in the ordinary course of business. The transactions below were made in the ordinary course of business on
substantially the same terms, including interest/commission rates and security, as for comparable transactions with
unrelated counterparties.
Assets

2018

2017

808,625
(71,946)
736,679
4,655,341
141,956
1,843,416
7,377,392

1,338,092
(9,761)
1,328,331
4,217,316
164,509
1,913,495
7,623,651

1,763,705

2,044,952

Commitments and contingencies
Guarantees, letter of credit and others

229,681

645,944

Income and expenses
Interest income
Interest expense
Fee and commission income

305,853
2,313
32,213

295,969
10,564
55,200

Loans and receivables (Gross)
Provision for loans and receivable
Loans and receivables (Net)
Investment in Government of Maldives treasury bills
Investment in corporate bonds
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Liabilities
Deposits and borrowings

38

Events after the reporting date
No circumstances have arisen since the reporting date which would require adjustments to, or disclosure in, the financial
statements.
Directors have recommended a final dividend of MVR 24 per share to be paid for the financial year ended 31 December
2018, in the form of cash dividend. This dividend must be approved by the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.

39

Capital management
The Bank has in place a Capital Policy to support its long term capital objectives, risk appetite and business activities, as
well as to meet its regulatory requirements. The Bank's objectives when managing capital are:
•

To comply with the capital requirements under the Maldives Monetary Authority (MMA) Prudential Regulation on
Capital Adequacy.

•

To safeguard the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for
shareholders and beneﬁts for other stakeholders.

•

To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

MMA requires each bank or banking group to hold a minimum level of regulatory capital of MVR 150 million and to
maintain a ratio of total regulatory capital to risk-weighted assets (the ‘Basel ratio’) at or above 12%.
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The Bank’s regulatory capital is divided into two tiers:

•
•

Tier 1 Capital: Share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings; and
Tier 2 Capital: Current year earnings, general provision and qualifying subordinated loan capital.

Risk-weighted assets reﬂect an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with each asset and counterparty,
taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees as per MMA Prudential Regulation on Capital Adequacy. A similar
treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposures, with some adjustments to reﬂect the more contingent nature of the
potential losses.
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the capital adequacy ratios of the Bank for the years
ended 31 December 2018 and 31 December 2017. The Bank complied with all regulatory capital requirements during both
the years.
39.1

Tier 1 Capital
Share capital
Assigned capital reserve
Share premium
General reserve
Statutory reserves
Total qualifying Tier 1 Capital

2018

2017

269,096
6,000
93,000
3,999,214
150,000
4,517,310

269,096
6,000
93,000
3,144,994
150,000
3,663,090

Tier 2 Capital
Current earnings
Revaluation reserve (discounted by 55%)
General provision (Limited to 1.25% of RWA)
Total qualifying Tier 2 Capital

1,098,760
53,744
177,439
1,329,942

1,038,181
54,931
183,512
1,276,625

Total Regulatory Capital

5,847,252

4,939,715

12,900,524
1,727,717
14,628,241

11,914,307
2,766,672
14,680,979

Tier 1 Risk Based Capital Ratio

31%

25%

Total Risk based Capital Ratio

40%

34%

Risk-weighted assets (RWA)
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet
Total risk-weighted assets

39.2

Basel 2 Capital computation
The Bank during the year updated its capital computation methodology to comply with the Basel 2 Standardized Approach.
As per Basel 2 guidelines, the Total Capital Ratio must be maintained at or above 15% for both Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital.
The Bank reported 37% and 47% for Tier 1 and Tier 2 Capital respectively for the year ended 2018 (2017: Tier 1 - 29%,
Tier 2 - 39%).
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40

Segement analysis
By business segment
The Bank operates in different business segments, each of which has unique risks and returns. The primary segments of the
Bank are:
•
•
•
•

Corporate, Business and Retail banking: Providing loan facilities, trade finance and deposit services to large corporate,
business (micro, small and medium sized enterprises) and retail customers respectively.
Cards and Electronic banking: Acquiring and issuing debit and credit cards and managing POS, ATM and internet
banking services.
Treasury: Capital and liquidity management activities such as investments, borrowings and managing money market
instruments.
BML Islamic: Providing Shari'ah compliant banking products and services under the window basis.

Transactions between business segments are on normal commercial terms and conditions. Segment assets and liabilities
comprise loans and advances and customer deposits.
40.1

Segment reporting - Statement of comprehensive income

Total operating income
Extracts of results
Interest income/income from financing and investments
held to maturity
Interest expense/profit paid
Net interest/profit income
Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense
Net fee and commission income/(expense)
Net gain/(loss) from trading
Other operating income (net)
Credit impairment losses
Net operating income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Segment result

2018
Corporate
and retail
banking

Card and
electronic
banking

Treasury

BML
Islamic

1,417,036

791,030

248,568

59,883

2,516,517

1,216,142

101,813

251,469

49,168

1,618,592

(85,557)
1,130,585

101,813

(56,843)
194,626

49,168

(142,400)
1,476,192

173,834
173,834

624,301
(291,764)
332,537

27,060
61,277
1,392,756

58,656
6,260
(31,765)
467,501

(33,743)
(9,721)
1,349,292

Expenses of BML Islamic
Un-allocated expenses
Profit before tax
Bank profit tax
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

-

(15,333)
(1,638)
450,531
-

(2,922)
22
191,726
191,726
-

9,867
(36)
9,831
849
(7,259)
52,588
(320)
-

Total

808,002
(291,800)
516,202
56,582
33,342
22,252
2,104,570
(49,396)
(11,359)

52,268

2,043,815

(12,790)

(12,790)
(429,126)
1,601,899
(503,139)
1,098,760
15,782
1,114,542
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2017

Total operating income
Extracts of results
Interest income/income from financing and investments
held to maturity
Interest expense/profit paid
Net interest/profit income
Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense
Net fee and commission income/(expense)
Net gain/(loss) from trading
Other operating income (net)
Credit impairment losses
Net operating income
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Segment result

Corporate
and retail
banking

Card and
electronic
banking

Treasury

BML
Islamic

1,335,899

709,953

237,446

9,883

2,293,180

1,096,193

83,146

225,249

4,078

1,408,666

(68,502)
1,027,691

83,146

(23,826)
201,423

4,078

(92,328)
1,316,338

217,427
217,427

566,647
(261,723)
304,924

4,744
(36)
4,708

788,818
(261,759)
527,059

22,279
(31,726)
1,235,671

56,638
3,522
(10,685)
437,544

1,061
(1,813)
8,034

68,686
27,011
(44,224)
1,894,869

(30,400)
(9,649)

(14,842)
(1,522)

(353)
-

(45,595)
(11,170)

1,195,623

Expenses of BML Islamic
Un-allocated expenses
Profit before tax
Bank profit tax
Net profit for the year
Other comprehensive income net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year

-
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421,180
-

10,987
1,210
213,620
213,620
-

Total

7,680

1,838,103

(12,875)

(12,875)
(408,797)
1,416,431
(378,250)
1,038,181
71,857
1,110,038
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40.2

Segment reporting - Statement of financial position

Assets

2018
Corporate
and retail
banking

Card and
electronic
banking

Treasury

BML
Islamic

Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers (Gross)
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets

1,328,639
1,708,406
12,119,584
319
322,959
54,804
82,727

412,061
144,207
22,674
8,986
254,753

1,899,793
4,779,389
-

3,654
135,010
627,327
17,188
552
10,139

1,332,292
1,843,416
1,899,793
13,158,972
4,796,577
144,526
346,186
63,790
347,619

Total assets

15,617,438

842,680

6,679,182

793,871

23,933,171

Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
Other liabilities
Bank profit tax liability (Unallocated)
Deferred tax liabilities (Unallocated)

14,782,619
22,805
520,898
-

38,337
-

920,681
-

474,800
1,079
33,098
-

15,257,418
921,761
22,805
592,333
315,381
16,228

Total liabilities

15,326,322

38,337

920,681

508,977

17,125,926

Liabilities

2017

Assets

Corporate
and retail
banking

Card and
electronic
banking

Treasury

BML
Islamic

Total

Cash and cash equivalents
Statutory deposit with Maldives Monetary Authority
Placements with banks
Loans and receivables to customers (Gross)
Financial assets at amortized cost
Financial assets at FVOCI
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Other assets

1,317,736
1,787,440
12,037,355
319
297,263
62,226
34,323

343,285
123,164
38,758
9,863
207,462

1,750,216
4,364,637
-

5,117
126,055
171,728
17,188
873
1,256

1,322,853
1,913,495
1,750,216
12,552,368
4,381,825
123,483
336,894
72,089
243,042

Total assets

15,536,662

722,533

6,114,853

322,218

22,696,265

Due to customers
Term debt and other borrowed funds
Custodian accounts of Maldives Retirement Pension Scheme
Other liabilities
Bank profit tax liability (Unallocated)
Deferred tax liabilities (Unallocated)

14,852,388
16,189
419,855
-

52,410
-

792,523
-

334,329
1,079
14,584
-

15,186,717
793,602
16,189
486,849
310,644
22,848

Total liabilities

15,288,432

52,410

792,523

349,992

16,816,848

Liabilities
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41

Reclassification

41.1

The Bank presented gross loans net of interest in suspense as at 31 December 2017. For better relative comparisons, the
Bank has reclassified gross loans and added back the interest in suspense to both gross loans and impairment balance as at
31 December 2017.
As reported
previously Reclassification
Gross loans and receivables
Total impairment for loans and receivables to customers

12,515,771
(294,711)
12,221,060
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36,597
(36,597)
-

Current
presentation
12,552,368
(331,309)
12,221,060

10
INVESTOR
INFORMATION
CAPITAL STRUCTURE
During the financial year 2018, the Authorized Share Capital of the Bank remained unchanged at MVR
800,000,000 while the Issued, Subscribed and Paid-up Capital of the Bank as at 31st December 2018 also
remained unchanged at MVR 269,096,000.

SHAREHOLDING STRUCTURE
Following is the shareholding structure of the Bank at the end of the year 2017 and 2018.

2018
Shareholders

2017

Total
Shares

Share Capital
(MVR)

%

Total
Shares

Share Capital
(MVR)

%

2,733,868

136,693,400

50.80%

2,733,868

136,693,400

50.80%

Government Employees
Provident Fund

394,380

19,719,000

7.33%

394,380

19,719,000

7.33%

Maldives Transport and
Contracting Company PLC

219,096

10,954,800

4.07%

219,096

10,954,800

4.07%

Atoll/Island Community
Accounts

219,096

10,954,800

4.07%

219,096

10,954,800

4.07%

General Public

1,815,480

90,774,000

33.73%

1,815,480

90,774,000

33.73%

Total

5,381,920

269,096,000

100.00%

5,381,920

269,096,000

100.00%

Government (MOFT)

137

SHARE PRICE MOVEMENT
During 2018, a total of 38 transactions amounting to 5,777 shares were traded through the Maldives Stock
Exchange. The Weighted Average Price over the year was MVR 226.96 and the total value of the shares traded
was MVR 1,311,125. At the beginning of 2018, the market price per share was MVR 340.00 per share and the
first traded price amounted to MVR 320.00 per share while the last traded price at the close of the year was
MVR 200.00. The highest quoted price during the year amounted to MVR 320.00 while the lowest amounted
to MVR 160.00.

2018

2017

First Traded Price

320.00

170.00

Highest Price

320.00

350.00

Lowest Price

160.00

150.00

Last Traded Price

200.00

340.00

Weighted Average Price

226.96

206.70

1,076,384,000

1,829,852,800

38

19

5777

5374

1,311,125

1,110,825

2018

2017

204.16

192.90

1,086.45

1,030.88

200.00

340.00

Market Statistics (MVR)

Market Capitalization at financial year end

Information on Share Trading
Number of Transactions
Number of Shares Traded
Value of Shares Traded (MVR)

Information per ordinary share (MVR)
Earnings per share
Net Asset per share
Market value per share
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139

140

141

142

